Provided for non-commercial research and education use. Not for reproduction, distribution or commercial use.



(This is a sample cover image for this issue. The actual cover is not yet available at this time.)

This article appeared in a journal published by Elsevier. The attached copy is furnished to the author for internal non-commercial research and education use, including for instruction at the authors institution and sharing with colleagues.

Other uses, including reproduction and distribution, or selling or licensing copies, or posting to personal, institutional or third party websites are prohibited.

In most cases authors are permitted to post their version of the article (e.g. in Word or Tex form) to their personal website or institutional repository. Authors requiring further information regarding Elsevier's archiving and manuscript policies are encouraged to visit:

http://www.elsevier.com/copyright

Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology 268 (2013) 157-177

Contents lists available at SciVerse ScienceDirect



Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/ytaap

Invited Review Article

Pesticides and human chronic diseases: Evidences, mechanisms, and perspectives

Sara Mostafalou, Mohammad Abdollahi*

Department of Toxicology and Pharmacology, Faculty of Pharmacy and Pharmaceutical Sciences Research Center, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 4 October 2012 Revised 30 January 2013 Accepted 31 January 2013 Available online 9 February 2013

Keywords: Pesticides Systematic review Chronic diseases Cancer Birth defects Reproductive toxicity Parkinson Alzheimer Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis Diabetes Asthma Cardiovascular disease Nephropathy Genetic damage Epigenetics Endocrine disruption Mitochondrial dysfunction Oxidative stress Endoplasmic reticulum stress Proteotoxicity

ABSTRACT

Along with the wide use of pesticides in the world, the concerns over their health impacts are rapidly growing. There is a huge body of evidence on the relation between exposure to pesticides and elevated rate of chronic diseases such as different types of cancers, diabetes, neurodegenerative disorders like Parkinson, Alzheimer, and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS), birth defects, and reproductive disorders. There is also circumstantial evidence on the association of exposure to pesticides with some other chronic diseases like respiratory problems, particularly asthma and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), cardiovascular disease such as atherosclerosis and coronary artery disease, chronic nephropathies, autoimmune diseases like systemic lupus erythematous and rheumatoid arthritis, chronic fatigue syndrome, and aging. The common feature of chronic disorders is a disturbance in cellular homeostasis, which can be induced via pesticides' primary action like perturbation of ion channels, enzymes, receptors, etc., or can as well be mediated via pathways other than the main mechanism. In this review, we present the highlighted evidence on the association of pesticide's exposure with the incidence of chronic diseases and introduce genetic damages, epigenetic modifications, endocrine disruption, mitochondrial dysfunction, oxidative stress, endoplasmic reticulum stress and unfolded protein response (UPR), impairment of ubiquitin proteasome system, and defective autophagy as the effective mechanisms of action.

© 2013 Elsevier Inc. All rights reserved.

Contents

Introduction
Evidences for the link between pesticide exposure and incidence of chronic diseases
Cancer
Birth defects and developmental toxicity
Reproductive disorders
Parkinson
Alzheimer
Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS)
Diabetes
Cardiovascular diseases
Chronic nephropathies
Chronic respiratory disease
Other chronic diseases
Molecular mechanisms linking pesticide exposure to chronic diseases
Genetic damages
Epigenetic modifications

* Corresponding author. Fax: +98 21 66959104.

E-mail addresses: Mohammad.Abdollahi@UToronto.Ca, Mohammad@TUMS.Ac.Ir (M. Abdollahi).

0041-008X/\$ - see front matter © 2013 Elsevier Inc. All rights reserved. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.taap.2013.01.025

S. Mostafalou, M. Abdollahi / Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology 268 (2013) 157-177

Other mechanisms involved in pesticide-induced chronic diseases	167
Endocrine disruption	. 167
Mitochondrial dysfunction	. 167
Oxidative stress	. 167
Endoplasmic reticulum stress and unfolded protein response	. 168
Protein aggregation	. 169
Conclusion	. 169
Conflict of interest statement	. 169
Acknowledgments	. 169
References	. 169

Introduction

158

Pesticides are considered as one of the main factors involved in environmental contamination of today's world. These chemicals are on purpose designed to be toxic to pest and vectors of diseases. These compounds are among more than 1000 active ingredients that are marketed as insecticide, herbicide, and fungicide. Nevertheless, formulation of new and potent pesticides is increasingly on the order of researchers and manufacturers because of pest resistance, hygienic controls, and major human need for more food as the world population grows. Although pesticides have largely benefited the human life through enhancement of agricultural products and controlling infectious diseases, their extensive use, in turn, has offended human health from side to side of occupational or environmental exposures. Long-term contact to pesticides can harm human life and can disturb the function of different organs in the body, including nervous, endocrine, immune, reproductive, renal, cardiovascular, and respiratory systems. In this regard, there is mounting evidence on the link of pesticide's exposure with the incidence of human chronic diseases, including cancer, Parkinson, Alzheimer, multiple sclerosis, diabetes, aging, cardiovascular and chronic kidney disease (Abdollahi et al., 2004c; De Souza et al., 2011; Mostafalou and Abdollahi, 2012a). In this overview, we discuss the association of pesticide's exposure with the incidence of different types of human chronic diseases as well as general mechanisms of disease's process, which can be involved in pesticide-induced toxicities.

Evidences for the link between pesticide exposure and incidence of chronic diseases

Chronic diseases are characterized by their generally slow progression and long term duration, which are considered as the leading cause of mortality in the new world, representing over 60% of all deaths. According to the WHO report, 36 million people died from chronic disease in 2008, of which nine million were under 60 and 90% of these premature deaths occurred in low- and middle-income countries (http://www.who.int/topics/chronic_diseases/en/).

Cancer

The first reports on the association of pesticides with cancer were presented around 50 years ago regarding higher prevalence of lung and skin cancer in the farmers using insecticides in grape fields (Jungmann, 1966; Roth, 1958; Thiers et al., 1967). During the past half century, a wide spectrum of population-based studies has been carried out in this respect leading to a significant progress in understanding the relationship of pesticides to the incidence of different types of malignancies (Penel and Vansteene, 2007). The International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC) has conducted several cohort studies on the incidence of cancers in people exposed to pesticides somehow during their lives (Baldi and Lebailly, 2007). Based on rising evidence given by epidemiological and agricultural health studies associated with exposure to pesticides, different types of neoplasm have been reported such as breast cancer, prostate cancer, lung cancer, brain cancer, colorectal cancer, testicular cancer, pancreatic cancer, esophageal cancer, stomach cancer, skin cancer and non-Hodgkin lymphoma (Alavanja and Bonner, 2012; Jaga and Dharmani, 2005; Weichenthal et al., 2010). Van Maele-Fabry et al. (2006, 2007, 2008) pointed out exposure to pesticides as a possible risk factor for prostate cancer and leukemia by a meta-analysis of risk estimates in pesticide manufacturing workers. In a series of agricultural health studies, Lee et al. (2004a,b, 2007) found an association between exposure to pesticides and cancer incidence, particularly lymphohematopoietic cancers for alachlor, lung cancer for chlorpyrifos, and colorectal cancer for aldicarb. Nowadays, chronic low-dose exposure to pesticides is considered as one of the important risk factors for cancer expansion. Therefore, carcinogenicity tests are now applied to detect carcinogenic potential of pesticides before allowing them to be marketed. Carcinogenicity testing is a long-term (around two years) rodent bioassay using two species of both sexes. According to a new list of Chemicals Evaluated for Carcinogenic Potential by EPA's Pesticide Program published in 2010, more than 70 pesticides have been classified as a probable or possible carcinogen. This classification has been accomplished based on the information extracted from animal studies, metabolism studies, structural relationship with other carcinogens, and if available, epidemiologic findings in human (http://www.epa.gov/ pesticides/carlist/).

Carcinogenic properties of pesticides can be influenced by a series of complex factors including age, sex, individual susceptibility, amount and duration of exposure, and simultaneous contacts with other cancer causing chemicals. However, carcinogenic mechanisms of pesticides can be explored in their potential to affect genetic material directly via induction of structural or functional damage to chromosomes, DNA, and Histone proteins, or indirectly disrupting the profile of gene expression through impairment of cellular organelles like mitochondria and endoplasmic reticulum, nuclear receptors, endocrine network, and the other factors involved in maintenance of cell homeostasis (George and Shukla, 2011; Rakitsky et al., 2000). Table 1 is indicating data extracted from epidemiological studies implicating on the relation between exposure to specific pesticides and increased risk of some kind of cancers.

Birth defects and developmental toxicity

Birth defects or congenital disorders are defined as structural or functional abnormalities existing at birth or before birth that causes physical or mental disabilities. Ranging from mild to fatal, diverse types of birth defects have been recognized and deliberated as the principal cause of death for infants during the first years of life. Any material which can induce birth defects is called teratogen (Rogers and Kavlock, 2008). The history of sensibility on the topic of developmental toxicity of pesticide returns to an incidence of congenital disorders induced by DDT and other organochlorines in the wildlife in Laurentian Great Lakes (Hamlin and Guillette, 2010). That concern was more intensified when reports associating with elevated rate of birth defects in defoliant sprayed areas of Vietnam appeared after

S. Mostafalou, M. Abdollahi / Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology 268 (2013) 157-177

 Table 1

 Pesticides associated with elevated incidence of cancer in epidemiological studies.

Type of cancer	Pesticide	Reference
Leukemia	Chlordane/heptachlor	Purdue et al. (2007)
	Chlorpyrifos	Lee et al. (2004b)
	Diazinon	Beane Freeman et al. (2005)
	EPTC	van Bemmel et al. (2008)
	Fonofos	Mahajan et al. (2006)
Non-Hodgkin's	Lindane	Purdue et al. (2007)
lymphoma	Oxychlordane/chlordane	Spinelli et al. (2007)
Multiple myeloma	Permethrin	Rusiecki et al. (2009)
Brain cancer	Chlorpyrifos	Lee et al. (2004b)
Prostate cancer	Fonofos	Mahajan et al. (2006)
	Methylbromide	Alavanja et al. (2003)
	Butylate	Lynch et al. (2009)
	Clordecone	Multigner et al. (2010)
	DDT, lindane, simazine	Band et al. (2011)
Colon cancer	Aldicarb	Lee et al. (2007)
	Dicamba	Samanic et al. (2006)
	EPTC	van Bemmel et al. (2008)
	Imazethapyr	Koutros et al. (2009)
	Trifluralin	Kang et al. (2008)
Rectum cancer	Chlordane	Purdue et al. (2007)
	Chlorpyrifos	Lee et al. (2004b)
		Lee et al. (2007)
	Pendimethalin	Hou et al. (2006)
Pancreatic cancer	EPTC, pendimethalin	Andreotti et al. (2009)
	DDT	Garabrant et al. (1992)
Lung cancer	Chlorpyrifos	Lee et al. (2004b)
	Diazinon	Beane Freeman et al. (2005)
	Dicamba	Alavanja et al. (2004)
	Dieldrin	Purdue et al. (2007)
	Metolachlor	Alavanja et al. (2004)
	Pendimethalin	Hou et al. (2006)
Bladder cancer	Imazethapyr	Koutros et al. (2009)
Melanoma	Carbaryl	Mahajan et al. (2007)
	Toxaphene	Purdue et al. (2007)
	Carbaryl, parathion,	Dennis et al. (2010)
	maneb/mancozeb	

war in late 1960. Defoliant or the famous Agent Orange is composed of phenoxy herbicides, which included small amounts of highly toxic dioxin (TCDD) as a byproduct (Ngo et al., 2006). Currently, there is much epidemiological evidence linking pre- and post-natal exposures to pesticides with congenital disorders (Weselak et al., 2007). A metaanalysis of literature published from 1966 to 2008 by Rocheleau et al. (2009) indicated that higher incidence of hypospadias resulted from parental exposure to pesticides. Parental exposure to Agent Orange has also been associated with increased risk of birth defects given by a meta-analytical review of epidemiological studies (Ngo et al., 2006). Furthermore, experimental data have indicated adverse developmental outcomes of some pesticides in laboratory animals as evidenced by intrauterine death, in utero growth retardation, visceral and skeletal malformations or dysfunctions (Cavieres, 2004).

In addition to the rate of placental transfer and systemic absorption as a determinant factor for chemicals to be teratogen, their potential in induction of genetic damage, neuronal cell defects, endocrine disruption, and oxidative stress has been proposed as the main mechanism of developmental toxicity (van Gelder et al., 2010).

Reproductive disorders

Reproductive disorders are defined as conditions prejudicing the capacity of the reproductive system to reproduce. Vast body of literature has detailed adverse effects of environmental exposures, particularly pesticides on both male and female reproductive systems (Kumar, 2004; Shojaei Saadi and Abdollahi, 2012). Decreased fertility in both sex, demasculinization (antiandrogenic effects), elevated rate of miscarriage, altered sex ratio, and change in the pattern of maturity are among the most reported reproductive dysfunctions induced by chronic exposure to pesticides (Frazier, 2007). These effects of

pesticides deemed more important when their link to endocrinal disruption was explained. A number of pesticides, mostly the old organochlorine types like aldrin, chlordane, DDT, dieldrin, and endosulfan, the herbicide atrazine, and the fungicide vinclozolin have been identified as commonly believed endocrine disrupting chemicals (PAN, 2009). Interfering with functions of the endocrine system has been implicated in most pesticides that caused reproductive toxicities (Cocco, 2002; Figa-Talamanca et al., 2001; Tiemann, 2008).

Parkinson

Parkinson disease is a motor progressive disorder of CNS characterized by degeneration of dopaminergic neurons in the substantia nigra. The cause of this degeneration is not well-known but post-mortem studies have indicated that oxidative stress and mitochondrial dysfunction play the main role in development of this late-onset disorder. There are large numbers of population studies that prove higher incidence of Parkinson disease in the people exposed to pesticides (Bonetta, 2002; Freire and Koifman, 2012; Van Maele-Fabry et al., 2012). A new meta-analysis published by van der Mark et al. (2012) reviewed updated literature, including 39 case-control studies, four cohort studies, and three cross-sectional studies and found that exposure to insecticides, and herbicides can lead to augmented risk of Parkinson disease. Furthermore, elevated levels of some pesticides in the serum of patients with Parkinson disease have been reported (Richardson et al., 2009). These results were followed up by other researchers who designed developmental models to analyze the link between Parkinson disease and pesticide exposure in several environmental health studies (Cory-Slechta et al., 2005). It can be said that Parkinson and other neurodegenerative disorders have been most studied in case of exposure to neurotoxic pesticides such as organophosphates, carbamates, organochlorines, pyrethroids and some other insecticides since they interfere with neurotransmission and function of ion channels in the nervous system (Costa et al., 2008).

Alzheimer

Evidence implicating on the role of pesticide in developing Alzheimer's disease is lesser than that of Parkinson. Most of the studies carried out in this respect are relatively small and vague until a longitudinal population-based cohort study was published in 2010 (Jones, 2010). Elderly people living in an agricultural area who contributed in the survey for 10 years showed a higher rate of cognitive performance and risk of Alzheimer's disease. When researchers specifically tested CNS affecting pesticides, they found a direct and significant association between occupational exposure to organophosphates, acetylcholinesterase inhibitor compounds, and developing Alzheimer's disease later in life (Hayden et al., 2010). Furthermore, in an ecologic study, Parron et al. (2011) showed that people living in areas with high level of pesticides usage had an elevated risk of Alzheimer's disease.

Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS)

Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS) is the nearly all common form of the motor neuron diseases characterized by degeneration of both upper and lower motor neurons. The symptoms include rapidly progressive weakness, muscle atrophy and fasciculations, muscle spasticity, dysarthria (difficulty speaking), dysphagia (difficulty swallowing), and a decline in breathing ability. Irrespective of familial ALS which can be easily ruled out, there is no known cause for this disease but many evidence-based potential risk factors have been proposed for its development where chemical exposures have been bolded (Morahan and Pamphlett, 2006; Sutedja et al., 2009). A populationbased case–control study conducted by McGuire and colleagues in 1997 was almost the starting point of pesticide–focused investigations in association with ALS. In that study, occupational exposure to three

160

S. Mostafalou, M. Abdollahi / Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology 268 (2013) 157-177

Table 2

The list of studies whose results implicate on the association of exposure to pesticides with incidence of chronic diseases.

Disease	Types	Reports								
		Case control	Cohort	Ecological	Others					
Cancer	Childhood leukemia	Alderton et al. (2006) Alexander et al. (2001) Buckley et al. (1989) Buckley et al. (1994) Infante-Rivard et al. (1999) Lafiura et al. (2007) Laval and Tuyns (1988) Leiss and Savitz (1995) Lowengart et al. (1987) Ma et al. (2002) Magnani et al. (1990) Meinert et al. (1990) Menegaux et al. (2006) Monge et al. (2007) Mulder et al. (2007) Rull et al. (2007) Rull et al. (2009) Shu et al. (2009)		Carozza et al. (2008)	Turner et al. (2010)					
	Adult leukemia	Alavanja et al. (1990) Brown et al. (1990) Ciccone et al. (1993) Clavel et al. (1996) Miligi et al. (2006)	Beane Freeman et al. (2005) Beard et al. (2003) Blair et al. (1983) Bonner et al. (2010) Cantor and Silberman (1999)	Chrisman Jde et al. (2009) Delzell and Grufferman (1985) Mills (1998)	Cuneo et al. (1992) Merhi et al. (2007) Van Maele-Fabry et al. (2008)					
	Hodgkin's lymphoma	Orsi et al. (2007) Persson et al. (1993) Rudant et al. (2007) van Balen et al. (2006)	Flower et al. (2004)	Carozza et al. (2008) Cerhan et al. (1998)						
	Non-Hodgkin's lymphoma	Alavanja et al. (1990) Buckley et al. (2000) Cantor (1982) Cantor et al. (1992) Chiu et al. (2006) De Roos et al. (2003) Eriksson et al. (2008) Hardell and Eriksson (1999) Hardell et al. (2002) Hoar et al. (1986) McDuffie et al. (2001) Meinert et al. (2000) Miligi et al. (2006) Nordstrom et al. (1998) Pearce et al. (1985) Rudant et al. (2007) Schroeder et al. (2001) t Mannetje et al. (2008) Vajdic et al. (2007) Woods et al. (1987) Zahm et al. (1993)	Bonner et al. (2010) Kristensen et al. (1996b) Kross et al. (1996) Morrison et al. (1994) Purdue et al. (2007) Ritter et al. (1990) Zhong and Rafinsson (1996)		Khuder et al. (1998) Merhi et al. (2007)					
	Multiple myeloma	Burmeister et al. (1983) Pearce et al. (1985)	Kristensen et al. (1996b) Landgren et al. (2009) Lope et al. (2008)	Cerhan et al. (1998)	Merhi et al. (2007)					
	Neuroblastoma	Daniels et al. (2001) Walker et al. (2007)	Feychting et al. (2001) Giordano et al. (2006) Kristensen et al. (1996b) Littorin et al. (1993)	Carozza et al. (2008)						
	Soft tissue sarcoma	Kogevinas et al. (1995) Leiss and Savitz (1995) Magnani et al. (1989)		Carozza et al. (2008) Chrisman Jde et al. (2009)						
	Childhood brain cancer	Bunin et al. (1994) Cordier et al. (1994) Davis et al. (1993) Efird et al. (2003) Gold et al. (1979) Holly et al. (1998) Pogoda and Preston-Martin (1997) Rosso et al. (2008) Ruder et al. (2006) Searles Nielsen et al. (2010)	Kristensen et al. (1996a)							

S. Mostafalou, M. Abdollahi / Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology 268 (2013) 157-177

Table 2 (continued)

Disease	Types	Reports				
		Case control	Cohort	Ecological	Others	
Cancer	Childhood brain cancer	van Wijngaarden et al. (2003) Wilkins and Koutras (1988) Wilkins and Sinks (1900)				
	Adult brain cancer	Wilkins and Sinks (1990) Lee et al. (2005) Musicco et al. (1988) Provost et al. (2007) Rodvall et al. (1996) Samanic et al. (2008)	Blair et al. (1983) Figa-Talamanca et al. (1993) Kross et al. (1996) Viel et al. (1998)	Delzell and Grufferman (1985) Mills (1998) Wesseling et al. (1999)	Smith-Rooker et al. (1992)	
	Bone cancer	Zheng et al. (2001) Merletti et al. (2006) Moore et al. (2005)	Holly et al. (1992)	Carozza et al. (2008) Wesseling et al. (1999)		
	Prostate cancer	Cerhan et al. (1998) Dosemeci et al. (1998) Forastiere et al. (1993) Meyer et al. (2007) Mills and Yang (2003) Settimi et al. (2003)	Alavanja et al. (2003) Chamie et al. (2008) Dich and Wiklund (1998) Fleming et al. (1999) Kross et al. (1996) MacLennan et al. (2002) Morrison et al. (1993)	Chrisman Jde et al. (2009) Delzell and Grufferman (1985) Mills (1998)	Keller-Byrne et al. (1997) Sharma-Wagner et al. (2000)	
	Breast cancer	Band et al. (2000) Brophy et al. (2002) Duell et al. (2000) Mills and Yang (2005) Teitelbaum et al. (2007)	Dolapsakis et al. (2001)		Ortega Jacome et al. (2010)	
	Colorectal cancer	Cerhan et al. (1998) Forastiere et al. (1993) Lo et al. (2010)	Kang et al. (2008) Koutros et al. (2009) Kross et al. (1996) Lee et al. (2007) Samanic et al. (2006) van Bermel et al. (2008) Zhong and Rafisson (1996)	Wesseling et al. (1999)		
	Pancreatic cancer	Alguacil et al. (2000) Forastiere et al. (1993) Ji et al. (2001) Kauppinen et al. (1995) Lo et al. (2007) Partanen et al. (1994)	Andreotti et al. (2009) Cantor and Silberman (1999)	Chrisman Jde et al. (2009)		
	Kidney cancer	Buzio et al. (2002) Fear et al. (1998) Forastiere et al. (1993) Hu et al. (2002) Karami et al. (2008) Mellemgaard et al. (1994) Olshan et al. (1993) Sharpe et al. (1995) Tsai et al. (2006)	Kristensen et al. (1996b)	Carozza et al. (2008)		
	Lung cancer	Brownson et al. (1993) Bumroongkit et al. (2008) Pesatori et al. (1994)	Alavanja et al. (2004) Barthel (1981) Beane Freeman et al. (2005) Blair et al. (1983) Lee et al. (2004b) Rusiecki et al. (2006) Samanic et al. (2006)	Wesseling et al. (1999)		
	Stomach cancer	Forastiere et al. (1993) Mills and Yang (2007)	Sumanic et ul. (2000)	Van Leeuwen et al. (1999)		
	Esophageal cancer Liver cancer	Jansson et al. (2006)	Giordano et al. (2006)	Chrisman Jde et al. (2009) Wesseling et al. (1999) Carozza et al. (2008)		
	Testicular cancer Bladder cancer Gallbladder cancer Thyroid cancer Melanoma	Mills et al. (1984) Forastiere et al. (1993) Fortes et al. (2007)	Fleming et al. (1999) Koutros et al. (2009) Giordano et al. (2006) Ward et al. (2010) Dennis et al. (2010)	Wesseling et al. (1999) Mills (1998) Wesseling et al. (1999) Wesseling et al. (1999) Carozza et al. (2008) Carozza et al. (2008)		
	Eye cancer Lip cancer	Carozza et al. (2008)	Mahajan et al. (2007) Kristensen et al. (1996b) Wiklund (1983)	Wesseling et al. (1999) Cerhan et al. (1998) Chrisman Ida et al. (2000)		
	Mouth cancer Larynx cancer		Tarvainen et al. (2008)	Chrisman Jde et al. (2009) Wesseling et al. (1999)	Tinck at al. (2002)	
	Sinonasal cancer Ovarian cancer Uterine cancer Cervical cancer	Donna et al. (1989)	Fleming et al. (1999)	Wesseling et al. (1999) Wesseling et al. (1999)	iisch et al. (2002)	

(continued on next page)

162

S. Mostafalou, M. Abdollahi / Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology 268 (2013) 157–177

Table 2	(conti	nued)

Disease	Types	Reports									
		Case control	Cohort	Ecological	Others						
Birth defects		Brender et al. (2010) Brucker-Davis et al. (2008) Dugas et al. (2010) Nassar et al. (2010) Ren et al. (2011)	Chevrier et al. (2011) Perera et al. (2003) Petit et al. (2010)	de Siqueira et al. (2010) Garry et al. (1996) Schreinemachers (2003) Winchester et al. (2009)	Benachour and Seralini (2009) Enoch et al. (2007) Greenlee et al. (2004) Qiao et al. (2001) Rauch et al. (2012) Richard et al. (2005) Rocheleau et al. (2009)						
Reproductive disorders		Greenlee et al. (2003) Swan et al. (2003b)	Saiyed et al. (2003) Snijder et al. (2011) Tiido et al. (2005) Tiido et al. (2006)	Swan et al. (2003a)	Sherman (1996) Anway et al. (2005) Cavieres et al. (2002) Fei et al. (2005) Gray et al. (1999) Joshi et al. (2011) Meeker et al. (2006) Oliva et al. (2001) Orton et al. (2011) Stanko et al. (2010)						
Neuro degenerative diseases	Parkinson	Baldi et al. (2003a) Butterfield et al. (1993) Chan et al. (1998) Costello et al. (2009) Dick et al. (2007) Dutheil et al. (2009) Elbaz et al. (2009) Filestone et al. (2005) Fong et al. (2007) Frigerio et al. (2006) Gatto et al. (2009) Gorell et al. (1998) Hancock et al. (2008) Hertzman et al. (1994) Hubble et al. (1993) Hubble et al. (1993) Koller et al. (1990) Manthripragada et al. (2010) Menegon et al. (1998) Ritz et al. (2009) Seidler et al. (1996) Semchuk et al. (1992) Stephenson (2000) Tanner et al. (2011) Wang et al. (2011a) Zorzno et al. (2012)	Ascherio et al. (2006) Baldi et al. (2003b) Kamel et al. (2007) Petrovitch et al. (2002) Tuchsen and Jensen (2000)	Barbeau et al. (1987) Ritz and Yu (2000) Schulte et al. (1996)	Wang et al. (2011b) Barlow et al. (2004) Barlow et al. (2005) Caudle et al. (2005) Chou et al. (2008) Jia and Misra (2007) Priyadarshi et al. (2000) Priyadarshi et al. (2001) Purisai et al. (2007) Richardson et al. (2006)						
	Alzheimer ALS	Bonvicini et al. (2010)	Baldi et al. (2003b) Hayden et al. (2010) Tyas et al. (2001) Burns et al. (2001)	Parron et al. (2011)	Choy and Kim (2011)						
Continue 1	Harristani	McGuire et al. (1997) Morahan and Pamphlett (2006) Pamphlett (2012) Qureshi et al. (2006)	Martine (1.4677)		Kanavouras et al. (2011)						
diseases	Atherosclerosis		Morton et al. (1975)		Fokina and Bezuglyi (1978) Antov and Aianova (1980) Zamaila et al. (2011)						
Respiratory diseases	Asthma	Salam et al. (2004)	Beard et al. (2003) Hoppin et al. (2002) Hoppin et al. (2008) Slager et al. (2009)		Zanizila et al. (2011) Draper et al. (2003) Kolmodin-Hedman et al. (1982) Lessenger (1992) Moretto (1991) Salameh et al. (2003) Vandenplas et al. (2000) Wagner (2000) Weiner and Worth (1969)						
	СОРД	Arifkhanova et al. (2007) Ubaidullaeva (2006)	Chakraborty et al. (2009) Hoppin et al. (2007) LeVan et al. (2006) Valcin et al. (2007)		Barczyk et al. (2006) Faria et al. (2005)						
Diabetes	Type 1, 2 and gestational	Lee et al. (2010)	Montgomery et al. (2008) Saldana et al. (2007)	Kouznetsova et al. (2007)	Everett and Matheson (2010) Patel et al. (2010)						

Table 2 (continued)

Disease	Types	Reports			
		Case control	Cohort	Ecological	Others
Chronic renal diseases	Chronic renal failure				Peiris-John et al. (2006) Wanigasuriya et al. (2007)
	Chronic kidney disease				Siddharth et al. (2012)
Autoimmune diseases	Rheumatoid arthritis		Parks et al. (2011)		Gold et al. (2007)
	Systemic lupus erythematous	Cooper et al. (2004)	Parks et al. (2011)		Gold et al. (2007)

groups of chemicals, including solvents, metals, and pesticides in relation to the incidence of ALS was evaluated and the results showed the role of agrochemicals in most of the cases (McGuire et al., 1997). During the past decade, several reports indicated the association of ALS development with exposure to pesticides (Bonvicini et al., 2010; Doi et al., 2006; Freedman, 2001). Pesticides have reserved the most prominent role in the most of the surveys focusing on the association of environmental and occupational exposures with ALS, which have been carried out up to now, and it would not be unlikely to consider them as a risk factor for developing this neurological disorder (Johnson and Atchison, 2009; Kamel et al., 2012; Vinceti et al., 2012).

Diabetes

Diabetes can be said that has become epidemic since 347 million people worldwide are appraised to be diabetic and based on WHO belief, diabetes deaths are expected to double between 2005 and 2030 (http://www.who.int/diabetes/en/index.html). Unlike diseases mentioned above, diabetes, particularly type 2 has some identified risk factors, including rich diet, obesity and sedentary manner of living but the extent of reports implicating on the relation of exposure to environmental pollutants, particularly pesticides and development of diabetes is rapidly growing (Mostafalou and Abdollahi, 2012b; Rahimi and Abdollahi, 2007). The possibility of studying diabetes in experimental models allowed researchers to investigate effects of exposure to pesticides on glucose homeostasis in laboratory animals. In this regard, there were lots of reports on disrupting effects of pesticides particularly organophosphates and organochlorines on glucose metabolism in association with imbalanced insulin secretion and response in animals (Abdollahi et al., 2004a; Karami-Mohajeri and Abdollahi, 2011; Pournourmohammadi et al., 2007). A couple of epidemiological studies whose results published during the past few years indicated that exposure to pesticides can be a potential risk factor for developing diabetes (Everett and Matheson, 2010; Montgomery et al., 2008; Saldana et al., 2007). It has also been suggested that exposure to some pesticides can be a promoter for other risk factors of diabetes like obesity by distressing neural circuits that regulate feeding behavior or altering differentiation of adipocytes (Thayer et al., 2012).

Cardiovascular diseases

About the relationship between pesticide's exposure and cardiovascular diseases, there are just a few random reports carried out in varied forms. In addition to a report concerning hypertension in Oregon pesticide formulating workers (Morton et al., 1975), there have been a few evidences on the link between exposure to pesticides and atherosclerosis (Antov and Aianova, 1980; Fokina and Bezuglyi, 1978). Recently, it was reported that chronic exposure to organophosphate pesticides can potentiate the risk of coronary artery disease presumably through diminished paraoxonase activity (Zamzila et al., 2011).

Chronic nephropathies

Higher incidence of the late-onset nephropathies like chronic kidney disease and chronic renal failure has been reported in middle-aged people (40–60 years) living in the agricultural areas with more prevalence in men. The results of a survey in North Central Province of Sri Lanka have presented a significant relationship between chronic renal failure and environmental factors in farming areas (Wanigasuriya et al., 2007). Exposure to acetylcholinesterase inhibiting pesticides was associated with chronic renal failure (Peiris-John et al., 2006). Furthermore, higher level of organochlorine pesticides was detected in chronic kidney disease patients along with a reduced glomerular filtration and increased oxidative stress (Siddharth et al., 2012).

Chronic respiratory disease

Asthma is considered as the most common disorder among chronic respiratory dysfunctions affecting both children and adults. Its close relationship with work-related exposures has been known from 18 centuries so that occupational asthma is characterized as a disease in medicine. There have been several reports on increased rate of asthma in people occupationally exposed to pesticides (Hernandez et al., 2011). Moreover, the result of an agricultural health study indicated that exposure to some pesticides may increase the risk of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) in farmers (Hoppin et al., 2007).

Other chronic diseases

However, there are sporadic reports on the association of exposure to pesticides with different types of human chronic diseases, including chronic fatigue syndrome (Behan and Haniffah, 1994), autoimmune diseases like systemic lupus erythematous and rheumatoid arthritis (Cooper et al., 2004; Gold et al., 2007; Parks et al., 2011) which need further investigations for more proof (Table 2).

Molecular mechanisms linking pesticide exposure to chronic diseases

Genetic damages

Genetic damages are caused by direct interaction with genetic material resulting in DNA damage or chromosomal aberrations and considered as a primary mechanism for chronic diseases within the context of carcinogenesis and teratogenesis. They are studied in the field of genetic toxicology and can be detected by distinctive kinds of genotoxicity tests. Growing body of data concerning genetic toxicity of pesticides have been collected from epidemiological and experimental studies using different types of examinations, including chromosomal aberrations, micronucleus, sister chromatid exchanges and comet assay (Bolognesi, 2003; Bull et al., 2006).

Indeed, genetic damages are classified into three groups as follows: 1. Premutagenic damages like DNA strand breaks, DNA adducts or unscheduled DNA synthesis; 2. Gene's mutation which means insertion or deletion of a couple of base pairs; 3. Chromosomal aberrations, including loss or gain of whole chromosome (aneuploidy), deletion or breaks (clastogenicity), and chromosomal segments or rearrangements. Premutagenic damages may be repaired prior to cell division while the damages in the second and third groups are permanent and have the

S. Mostafalou, M. Abdollahi / Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology 268 (2013) 157-177

Table 3

Genotoxicity	/ biomarkers	determined in	po	pulations	occur	pationally	/ ex	posed	to (different	types of	of p	esticides.	
											~ •			

Genetic damage	Pesticides	Reference
DNA strand breaks	Acephate, chlorpyrifos, dimethoate, monocrotophos, phorate, cypermethrin, fenvalerate, carbendazim Dimethoate, ethephon, omethoate, oxydemeton-methyl, thiometon, befenthrin, B-cyfluthrin, deltamethrin, mancozeb, carbendazim, endosulfan, chlorothalanil, iprodione, diflufenicanil, L-cyhalothrin, pyrimethanil, fluroxypyr, cyproconazole, epoxyconazole, flutriafol, tebucanazole, atrazine	Grover et al. (2003) Lebailly et al. (1998)
DNA adducts	Glyphosate, methamidophos, monocrotophos, parathion methyl, methomyl, metam-sodium, dazomet, zineb, benomyl, carbendazim, paraquat, captan, folpet, endosulfan	Peluso et al. (1996)
Chromosomal aberration	Acephate, chlorpyrifos, dimethoate, fenitrothion, fenthion, fosetyl, isofenphos, methamidophos, naled, pyrazophos, cypermethrin, deltamethrin, fenpropathrin, fenvalerate, methiocarb, methomyl, oxamyl, mancozeb, propineb, zineb, benomyl, diquat, paraquat, captan, folpet, procymidone, endosulfan, abamectin, kasugamycin, iprodione, oxadixyl, buripimate, metribuzin, linuron, methabenzthiazuron, triforine, vinclozolin, bitertanol, fenbutatin oxide, amitraz, propargite, dithiocarbamate	Carbonell et al. (1993)
	Diazinon, dichlorvos, dimethoate, malathion, ethylazinophos, monocrotophos, parathion, parathion methyl, phorate, prothoate, terbufos, trichlorofon, cypermethrin, fenpropathrin, permethrin, maneb, thiram, dazomet, mancozeb, zineb, ziram, thiabendazole, paraquat, captan, folpet, endosulfan, dodemorph, chlorothalonil, iprodione, acetic metaldehyde, barium polysulfide, copper oxychloride, copper sulfate, sulfur, white oil, dinocap, DNOC, alachlor, simazine, MCPA, linuron, vinclozolin, phenmedifam, methalaxyl, ethofumesate, 2,4-D, dicofol	De Ferrari et al. (1991)
	Dimethoate, mevinphos, monocrotofos, parathion, parathion methyl, aldicarb, maneb, dazomet, propineb, zineb, captan, endosulfan, aldrin, aramite, chlordimeform, heptachlor, tetradifon	Dulout et al. (1985)
	2.4-D Chlorpyriphos, cypermethrin, deltamethrin, fenpropathrin, methomyl, thiram, pirimicarb, benomyl, carbendazim, endosulfan, chlorothalonil, iprodione, buprofezin, atrazine, triforine, vinclozolin, cyhexatin, fetin acetate, carboxin, 2.4-D, chloridazon, defenamide, oxadiazon, propargyl	Garry et al. (2001) Lander et al. (2000)
Micronucleus formation	Metham sodium, dodemorph, zineb, antracol, captan, dazomet, dichloropropane, dichloropropene Diazinon, dichlorvos, fosetyl-aluminum, malathion, ethamidophos, parathion methyl, cypermethin, carbaryl, methomyl, mancozeb, pirimicarb, benomyl, captan, endosulfan, lindane, diuron, 2,4-D, aldrin, ametrina, BHC, DDT, dacomil, dieldrin, di-syxtox, endrin, furadan, gusathion, javelin, metalaxyl, nuvacron, oxidemeton methyl, talstar, tordon	Bolognesi et al. (1993) Gomez-Arroyo et al. (2000)
	Deltamethrin, carbaryl, mancozeb, propineb, benomyl	Pasquini et al. (1996)
Sister chromatid exchange	Azynphos methyl, dimethoate, malathion, methyl parathion, 2,4,5-1, 2,4-D Mancozeb-contained fungicide	Laurent et al. (1996) Iablonicka et al. (1989)
	A complex mixture of pesticides (atrazine, alachlor, cyanazine, 2,4-dichlorophenoxyacetic acid, and malathion)	Zeljezic and Garaj-Vrhovac (2002)
	DDT, BHC, endosulfan, malathion, methyl parathion, phosphamidon, dimethoate, monocrotophos, quinalphos fenvelrate. and cypermethrin	Rupa et al. (1991)
	DDT, BHC malathion, parathion, dimethoate, fenitrothion, urea and gromor	Rupa et al. (1988)

ability of transmission to daughter cells after cell division (Guy, 2005) (Fig. 1).

Between chromosomal assessments, micronucleus has been recognized as the most reliable and successful test as verified by the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD). A micronucleus is referred to the third nucleus formed during the metaphase/anaphase transition of mitosis. The group of these cyto-plasmic bodies is called micronuclei having a portion of acentric chromosome or whole chromosome, which does not integrate in the opposite poles during the anaphase. This results in the formation of daughter cells without a part or all of a chromosome. Regarding sensitivity, reliability, and cost-effectiveness of this test, it has been used in different studies on pesticide-exposed populations. Most of these surveys implied on the increased level of micronucleus formation in people dealing with pesticides for a long time (Costa et al., 2011; Ergene et al., 2007; Garaj-Vrhovac and Zeljezic, 2002).

Sister chromatid exchange (SCE) or exchange of genetic material between sister chromatids is another testing for chemicals suspected to be mutagenic. Elevated level of SCE has been observed in some diseases, including Bloom syndrome and Behçet's syndrome and maybe tumor formation. There are some reports on increased frequency of SCE in pesticide applicators who worked in agricultural fields (Carbonell et al., 1990; Rupa et al., 1991; Zeljezic and Garaj-Vrhovac, 2002).

Single-cell gel electrophoresis (SCGE) or Comet assay is a simple and sensitive testing for evaluation of DNA strand breaks in eukaryotic cells (Dhawan et al., 2009). This technique has been frequently used for biomonitoring genotoxic effect of pesticides in a large number of studies most of which implicate on induction of DNA damage by these chemicals (Grover et al., 2003; Mostafalou and Abdollahi, 2012c; Shadnia et al., 2005; Zeljezic and Garaj-Vrhovac, 2001). Although, genotoxicity assays are among necessary tests applying for pesticides prior to introducing to the market, collected data from post-market monitoring studies have been evident for potential of allowed pesticides in induction of genetic damages. Considering genetic damages as one of the main events for cancer induction or development, further studies focusing on genotoxicity of pesticides, of course in appropriate models like exposure to their mixtures along with some other promoting factors, are required to understand the carcinogenic and tumorigenic mechanisms of pesticides (Table 3).

Epigenetic modifications

Epigenetic is referred to the heritable changes in gene expression or cellular phenotype without any alterations in the DNA sequence, and its mechanisms include DNA methylation, histone modifications and expression of non-coding RNAs. A growing body of evidence has implicated on the role of environmental exposures, particularly in early development, in the induction of epigenetic changes that may be transmitted to subsequent generations or may serve as a basis of diseases developed later in life. Furthermore, it has become so likely that epigenetics contribute to the causes or transmission of chronic disorders from one generation to another (Weinhold, 2006) (Fig. 2).

Several evidence collected from animal studies during the past decade suggested that exposure to pesticides can induce epigenetic changes. Heritable alterations of DNA methylation in male germline along with testis and ovarian dysfunction have been reported after exposure to some pesticides like vinclozolin and methoxychlor (Anway and Skinner, 2006; Anway et al., 2005; Guerrero-Bosagna et al., 2010; Zama and Uzumcu, 2009). Exposure to dichloroacetic acid and trichloroacetic acid has been associated with decreased methylation in promoter regions of *c-jun* and *c-myc* in liver of mice (Tao et al., 2000a,b). Global DNA hypomethylation has also been reported in



Fig. 1. A schematic model for induction of genetic damages including premutagenic, mutagenic and chromosomal effects by exposure to pesticides.

people who had an elevated blood level of pesticides and persistent organic pollutants in two surveys (Kim et al., 2010; Rusiecki et al., 2008). Furthermore, increased acetylation of core histones H3 and H4 has been reported by dieldrin, an organochlorine pesticide, in mouse models (Song et al., 2010).

On the other hand, growing progress has been made in the recognition of epigenetic modifications in human chronic diseases, particularly cancer. Cancer is now considered as an epigenetic disease the same as a genetic disease. There is tremendous evidence on the contribution of epigenetic events in the initiation, promotion and progression of different types of cancers, mainly through silencing of tumor suppressor genes and/or activation of proto-oncogenes. These modifications have allocated such a fundamental role in cancer development that epigenetic therapy of cancer is rapidly growing in medical sciences (Jones and Baylin, 2002). In addition, epigenetic changes currently have been a powerful tool for studying the carcinogenesis mechanisms of occupational and environmental exposures (Ziech et al., 2010). The first note on pesticide-induced carcinogenesis through epigenetic mechanisms was from a study carried out by Maslansky and colleagues in 1981. They reported hepatocarcinogenesis of organochlorine pesticides with no genotoxic effects in hepatocytes and suspected to epigenetic modifications disrupting intracellular



Fig. 2. A schematic model for induction of epigenetic modifications including DNA methylation, histone modification, and expression of miRNAs by pesticides.

communications (Maslansky and Williams, 1981). Later, reports presented about epigenetic actions of vinclozolin, a fungicide known to be an environmental endocrine disruptor, in association with adultonset diseases, particularly tumor development (Skinner and Anway, 2007). Pesticides were introduced as carcinogens acting through epigenetic or nongenotoxic mechanisms (Rakitsky et al., 2000).

Other than cancer, epigenetic alterations have increasingly been detected and investigated in neurodegenerative diseases, including Parkinson (Habibi et al., 2011), Alzheimer (Kwok, 2010), ALS (Oates and Pamphlett, 2007), and multiple sclerosis (Burrell et al., 2011). On the role of epigenetic changes in pesticide-induced neurodegenerative disorder, recently neurotoxic insecticides were found to promote apoptosis in dopaminergic neurons through hyper-acetylation of core histones H3 and H4 (Song et al., 2010).

Epigenetic alterations have also been reported to be involved in some other late-onset diseases like diabetes (Simmons, 2007), aging (Gravina and Vijg, 2010), chronic kidney disease (Dwivedi et al., 2011), and atherosclerosis (Lund and Zaina, 2011). Nevertheless, presenting epigenetic modifications as a mechanism by which pesticides develop these chronic diseases depends on the future studies.

However, epigenetics has opened a new field for studying the influence of environmental exposures on transcriptional regulation of genes in association with human diseases. There are a lot of findings about changing the pattern of gene expressions in exposure to pesticides, which can be used as a tool in studying the process of human diseases (Pournourmohammadi and Abdollahi, 2011), but further studies are still required to determine the role of epigenetic mechanisms in these variations.

Other mechanisms involved in pesticide-induced chronic diseases

Endocrine disruption

At a cellular level, endocrine disruption refers to a mechanism of toxicity that interferes the ability of the cells to communicate hormonally and results in a wide variety of adverse health effects including birth defects, reproductive, developmental, metabolic, immune, and neurobehavioral disorders as well as hormone dependent cancers. The term "endocrine disruptor" (ED) was first introduced in 1991 referring to the substances that interfere with synthesis, secretion, transport, binding, action, metabolism or elimination of hormones in the body (Crisp et al., 1998). Up to now, a huge body of evidence has brought up on endocrine disrupting properties of pesticides so that currently a total of 101 pesticides have been listed as proven or possible EDs by the Pesticide Action Network UK (PAN, 2009). Most endocrine disrupting pesticides mimic estrogen function by acting as a ligand for receptor, converting other steroids to active estrogen or increasing the expression of estrogen responsive genes as shown by some organochlorines, organophosphates, carbamates, and pyrethroids. Antiandrogenic effects have also been reported for organochlorine and carbamate insecticides, as well as triazines, a group of herbicides through inhibition of binding natural ligand to receptors and androgen binding receptors. Competitive inhibition of thyroid hormone receptors by organophosphates and inhibition of progesterone action by pyrethroids are other findings regarding endocrine disruption by pesticides (McKinlay et al., 2008). However, the results of various transactivation assays using mammalian and yeast cells indicated agonistic or antagonistic activity of pesticides toward aryl hydrocarbon receptors and some members of the nuclear receptor superfamily including retinoic acid receptors, pregnane X receptors, and peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors (Kojima et al., 2010; Lemaire et al., 2005).

Mitochondrial dysfunction

As dynamic multifunctional organelles, mitochondria are the main source of ATP and reactive oxygen species (ROS) in the cell and have important roles in calcium homeostasis, synthesis of steroids and heme, metabolic cell signaling, and apoptosis. Abnormal function of the mitochondrial respiratory chain is the primary cause of imbalanced cellular energy homeostasis and has been widely studied in different types of human diseases most of all diabetes (Abdul-Ghani and DeFronzo, 2008; Kim et al., 2008; Lowell and Shulman, 2005; Ma et al., 2012) and neurodegenerative disorders (Johri and Beal, 2012). Perturbation of this organelle has been accepted as one of the crucial mechanisms of neurodegeneration since there is broad literature supporting mitochondrial involvement of proteins like α -Synuclein, Parkin, DJ-1, PINK1, APP, PS1 & 2, and SOD1 that have some known roles in major neurodegenerative disorders, including Parkinson, Alzheimer, and ALS (Martin, 2012). Some evidence even proposed the involvement of mitochondrial DNA and its alterations in development of these diseases (Lin and Beal, 2006). Parkinson was almost the first disease in which the role of mitochondrial dysfunction was uncovered when the classical inhibitor of complex I electron transport chain, metabolite of MPTP, was reported to cause Parkinsonism in drug abusers (Langston, 1996). In 2000, developing the symptoms of Parkinson was also reported for a broad-spectrum pesticide, rotenone, whose mechanism of action is selective inhibition of complex I mitochondrial respiratory chain so that it has been widely used to create Parkinson model in laboratory animals (Caboni et al., 2004). In this regard, interfering with mitochondrial respiratory chain functions has made a pattern in development of different types of pesticides, and many agrochemicals are known to inhibit electron transport chain activity as their primary or secondary mechanism of action. Most of the pesticides interfering with mitochondrial respiratory chain activities are mainly inhibitors of complex I electron transport chain and some others partially inhibit complexes II, III, and V (Gomez et al., 2007). Moreover, a wide variety of pesticides has been known as uncouplers of mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation (Ilivicky and Casida, 1969). Nevertheless, impairment of oxidative phosphorylation has been reported in exposure to a large number of pesticides particularly neurotoxic agents through inhibition of a biosynthetic pathway essential for mitochondrial function or extramitochondrial generation of ROS (Ranjbar et al., 2010). Likewise, there is enough evidence on the role of mitochondrial dysfunction in pathophysiological features of diabetes, including insulin deficiency and insulin resistance. Pancreatic beta cell failure has been reported to be associated with mitochondrial dysfunction and can be caused by exposure to pesticides (Jamshidi et al., 2009; Pournourmohammadi et al., 2007). On the other hand, exposure to pesticides inhibiting complex I and III mitochondrial respiratory chain can lead to a diminished oxygen consumption and cellular energy supply which in turn can result in reduced insulin signaling cascade. In this way, organochlorines, atrazine, and some dioxin-like pesticides have been shown to decrease mitochondrial capacity in beta oxidation of fatty acids resulting in accumulation of intracellular fat, a situation considered to develop obesity and insulin resistance (Lee, 2011; Lim et al., 2009).

Oxidative stress

Increased production of ROS and/or decreased capacity of antioxidant defense can disrupt oxidative balance and result in damaging all components of the cell, including lipids, proteins, and DNA. Further, oxidative stress can disrupt various parts of cellular signaling because ROS are considered as one of the main messengers in redox signaling. However, the role of oxidative stress has been uncovered in induction and development of different kinds of human diseases, including cancer, diabetes, neurodegeneration, atherosclerosis, schizophrenia, chronic fatigue syndrome, and renal and respiratory disorders (Ahmad et al., 2010; Ciobica et al., 2011; Fendri et al., 2006; Lushchak and Gospodaryov, 2012; Nathan et al., 2011). On the other hand, there is a huge body of literature on induction of oxidative stress by pesticides, and it has been implicated in development of health problems mediated by exposure to pesticides (Grosicka-Maciag, 2011; Olgun and Misra, 2006; Slaninova et al., 2009; Soltaninejad and Abdollahi, 2009). It has been revealed that pesticides can disturb oxidative homeostasis through direct or indirect pathways, including mitochondrial or extramitochondrial production of free radicals, thiol oxidation, and depletion of cellular antioxidant reservoirs (Abdollahi et al., 2004b,c; Braconi et al., 2010; Mostafalou et al., 2012a). Considering the oxidative stress as a powerful promoter of other cellular pathways involved in disease process and as a unique attendant in inflammatory response, it has been put in the spotlight of the most mechanistic studies regarding the association of pesticide's exposure with chronic disorders. Oxidative stress has been implicated in the onset and progression of pesticide induced Parkinson disease (Singh et al., 2007). In this regard, organochlorine pesticides have been reported to cause degeneration of dopaminergic neurons by an oxidative dependent pathway in Parkinson model (Kanthasamy et al., 2002; Sharma et al., 2010). Additionally, disrupting effects of organophosphates on glucose homeostasis have been reportedly linked to oxidative damages and inflammatory cytokines and thought to be compensatory responses accompanied with reduced insulin signaling in insulin sensitive organs such as liver, muscle, and adipose tissue (Mostafalou et al., 2012b; Teimouri et al., 2006). As such further disruption of glucose homeostasis in diabetic models of laboratory animals exposed to organophosphate insecticides has been associated with enhanced lipid peroxidation and decreased activity of antioxidant enzymes (Begum and Rajini, 2011). Oxidative stress has also been reported to be involved in nephrotoxicity of some pesticides,

including diazinon, acephate, and paraquat (Poovala et al., 1998; Shah and Iqbal, 2010; Tomita et al., 2006).

Endoplasmic reticulum stress and unfolded protein response

As the first compartment of secretary pathway, endoplasmic reticulum (ER) is specialized for synthesis, folding, and delivery of proteins in addition to its fundamental role in the storage of calcium. Any disturbance in calcium homeostasis, redox regulation, and energy supply can cause perturbation of ER normal function resulting in accumulation of unfolded or misfolded proteins in this organelle, a situation which is called ER stress. Unfolded proteins occupy ER resident chaperones leading to release of transmembrane ER protein kinases which activate a series of phosphorylation cascades resulting in increased expression of genes, which act as molecular chaperones to reestablish ER folding capacity or promote ER associated degradation (ERAD) to remove misfolded proteins. This process is called unfolded protein response (UPR) aiming to adjust to the changing environment. In case if adaptation fails, ER stress results in expression of genes involved in programmed cell death pathways (Xu et al., 2005). Recent discoveries indicate that prolonged ER stress and UPR play an important role in the development of several human diseases particularly chronic ones, including insulin resistance, diabetes (Back et al., 2012; Kim et al., 2012; Scheuner and Kaufman, 2008), Parkinson, Alzheimer, ALS (Doyle et al., 2011; Lindholm et al., 2006; Nassif et al., 2010), tumor formation and progression (Koumenis, 2006; Lee and Hendershot, 2006), atherosclerosis, cardiomyopathy, chronic kidney diseases and renal failure (Dickhout et al., 2011; Tabas, 2010).



Fig. 3. A simplified model for mechanisms by which pesticides induce and develop chronic disease, ROS: reactive oxygen species, Cyt c: cytochrome c, UPS: ubiquitin proteasome system, ER stress: endoplasmic reticulum stress, ERAD: endoplasmic reticulum associated degradation, ER: estrogen receptor, AR: androgen receptor, AHR: aryl hydrocarbon receptor, TR: thyroid receptor, RAR: retinoic acid receptor, RXR: retinoid X receptor, PPAR: peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor, RE: response element, ALS: amyotrophic lateral sclerosis, COPD: chronic obstructive pulmonary disease.

On the other hand, ER stress and related pathways have been reported to be involved in cytotoxicity of some pesticides. Paraquat, a bipyridyl herbicide, which is suspected to increase the risk of Parkinson disease following chronic exposures, has been reported to induce ER stress and trigger dopaminergic cell death by enhanced cleavage of a small ER co-chaperone protein, p23, and inhibition of ERAD (Chinta et al., 2008). Elevated level of ER stress biomarkers like glucose-regulated protein 78 (GRP78), ER degradationenhancing- α -mannosidase-like protein (EDEM), and C/EBP homologous protein (CHOP) has also been implicated in paraquat-induced toxicity in human neuroblastoma cells. Further, paraquat activated calpain and caspase 3 along with ER-induced cascade inositolrequiring protein 1 (IRE1)/apoptosis signal-regulating kinase 1 (ASK1)/C-Jun N-terminal kinase (JNK) (Yang et al., 2009). In another study carried out on neuroblastoma cells, rotenone-induced ER stress has become evident by increased phosphorylation of protein kinase RNA-like endoplasmic reticulum kinase (PERK), protein kinase RNAactivated (PKR), and eukaryotic initiation factor 2-a (eIF2a) as well as the expression of GRP78. Moreover, rotenone activates glycogen synthase kinase 3B (GSK3B), an ER related multifunctional serine/ threonine kinase implicated in the pathogenesis of neurodegeneration (Chen et al., 2008). Deltamethrin, a pyrethroid pesticide, has been reported to induce apoptosis through ER stress pathway involving eIF2α, calpain and caspase 12 (Hossain and Richardson, 2011). Induction of apoptosis by pyrrolidine dithiocarbamate (PDTC)/Cu complex, a widely used pesticide, has also been linked to the ER stressassociated signaling molecules, including GRP78, GRP94, caspase-12, activating transcription factor 4 (ATF4), and CHOP in lung epithelial cells (Chen et al., 2010). Chloropicrin an aliphatic nitrate pesticide has been indicated to increase ER stress-related proteins, including GRP78, IRE1a, and CHOP/GADD 153 in human retinal pigment epithelial cells (Pesonen et al., 2012). Some other pesticides belonging to the organochlorines (endosulfan), carbamates (formetanate, methomyl, pyrimicarb), and pyrethroids (bifenthrin) have been evaluated for their effects on stress proteins among which upregulation of the ER chaperone GRP78 and downregulation of the cytosolic chaperone HSP72/73 were significant. These effects can occur when ER is under stress and the UPR result in increased expression of ER chaperones and decreased protein synthesis in the cytosol (Skandrani et al., 2006a,b).

Protein aggregation

Degradation of misfolded, damaged or unneeded proteins is a fundamental biological process which has a crucial role in maintenance and regulation of cellular function. There are two major cellular mechanisms for protein degradation; ubiquitin proteasome system (UPS) that mainly targets short-lived proteins by proteases, and autophagy that mostly clears long-lived and poorly soluble proteins through the lysosomal machinery (Gies et al., 2010). UPS is composed of ubiquitin for tagging and proteasomes for proteolysis of proteins, which are to be degraded. Deregulation of this system has been implicated in the pathogenesis of several chronic diseases, mostly neurodegeneration and cancers evidenced by decreased and increased proteasome activity, respectively (Paul, 2008). Environmental exposure to certain pesticides has been linked to proteasomal dysfunction in development of neurodegenerative diseases. The organochlorine pesticide dieldrin has been reported to decrease proteasome activity along with enhanced sensitivity to occurrence of apoptosis in dopaminergic neuronal cells (Sun et al., 2005). Proteasome inhibition has also been shown in neuroblastoma cells exposed to rotenone, ziram, diethyldithiocarbamate, endosulfan, benomyl, and dieldrin (Chou et al., 2008; Wang et al., 2006). Paraquat has also been noted to impair UPS given by decreased proteasome activity and increased ubiquitinated proteins in DJ-1 deficient mice and dopaminergic neurons (Yang and Tiffany-Castiglioni, 2007; Yang et al., 2007). Increased degradation of proteasome components has been presented as the mechanism of proteasome inhibition by rotenone, an inducer of Parkinson (Chou et al., 2010).

The lysosomal degradation pathway of autophagy is known as a self-digestion process by which cells not only get rid of misfolded proteins, damaged organelles and infectious microorganisms but also provide nutrients during fasting. Defect of this process has found an emerging role in many human diseases such as cancer, neurodegeneration, diabetes, aging, and disorders of the liver, muscle, and heart (Gonzalez et al., 2011; Levine and Kroemer, 2008; Shintani and Klionsky, 2004). There are a few reports on the involvement of defective autophagy in toxic effects of pesticides. A relationship between autophagy and paraquat-induced apoptosis in neuroblastoma cells was shown by Gonzalez-Polo and colleagues in 2007 (Gonzalez-Polo et al., 2007). This effect was confirmed in another study in which paraquat-induced autophagy was attributed to the occurrence of ER stress (Niso-Santano et al., 2011). Lindan, a broad-spectrum organochlorine pesticide, has been reported to promote its toxicity through disruption of an autophagic process in primary rat hepatocytes (Zucchini-Pascal et al., 2009) (Fig. 3).

Conclusion

Taken together, chronic diseases discussed above are considered as the major disorders affecting public health in the 21st century. The relationship between these diseases and environmental exposures, particularly pesticides increasingly continues to strengthen. Near to all studies carried out in the area of pesticides, and chronic diseases are categorized in the field of epidemiologic evidence or experimental investigation with mechanistic insight into the disease process. Some epidemiologic studies have been debated on their uncertainty in elicitation of a definite conclusion because of some restrictions. However, existence of more than a few dozen reports on the association of one case like brain cancer with exposure to pesticide is enough to create concern even without finding a direct link. Abundance of evidence in this regard has promoted scientist to evaluate the mechanisms by which pesticides develop chronic diseases. Although there remains a lot to do in this way, several mechanisms and pathways have been clarified for pesticide-induced chronic diseases. It should not be forgotten that these mechanisms work alongside or sequentially rather than singly in most cases, or they even can potentiate genetically susceptible individuals. However, the body of studies in this respect has become massive enough to consider pesticide exposure as a potential risk factor for developing chronic diseases. Considering chronic diseases as the most important global health problems it is time to find a preventive approach in association with agrochemicals by logical reducing pesticide use or pesticide dependency and find efficient alternatives for hazardous ones.

Conflict of interest statement

There is no competing interest.

Acknowledgments

Authors wish to thank assistances of INSF and TUMS.

References

- Abdollahi, M., Donyavi, M., Pournourmohammadi, S., Saadat, M., 2004a. Hyperglycemia associated with increased hepatic glycogen phosphorylase and phosphoenolpyruvate carboxykinase in rats following subchronic exposure to malathion. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. C Toxicol. Pharmacol. 137, 343–347.
- Abdollahi, M., Mostafalou, S., Pournourmohammadi, S., Shadnia, S., 2004b. Oxidative stress and cholinesterase inhibition in saliva and plasma of rats following subchronic exposure to malathion. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. C. Toxicol. Pharmacol. 137 (1), 29–34.

Abdollahi, M., Ranjbar, A., Shadnia, S., Nikfar, S., Rezaie, A., 2004c. Pesticides and oxidative stress: a review. Med. Sci. Monit. 10 (6), 141-147.

- Abdul-Ghani, M.A., DeFronzo, R.A., 2008. Mitochondrial dysfunction, insulin resistance, and type 2 diabetes mellitus. Curr. Diab. Rep. 8 (3), 173-178.
- Ahmad, R., Teripathi, T.A., Tripathi, P., Singh, R., Singh, S., Singh, R.K., 2010. Studies on lipid peroxidation and non-enzymatic antioxidant status as indices of oxidative stress in patients with chronic myeloid leukaemia. Singapore Med. J. 51 (2), 110–115. Alavanja, M.C., Bonner, M.R., 2012. Occupational pesticide exposures and cancer risk: a
- review. J. Toxicol. Environ. Health B Crit. Rev. 15 (4), 238-263.
- Alavanja, M.C., Blair, A., Masters, M.N., 1990. Cancer mortality in the U.S. flour industry. J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 82 (10), 840-848.
- Alavanja, M.C., Samanic, C., Dosemeci, M., Lubin, J., Tarone, R., Lynch, C.F., Knott, C., Thomas, K., Hoppin, J.A., Barker, J., Coble, J., Sandler, D.P., Blair, A., 2003. Use of ag-ricultural pesticides and prostate cancer risk in the Agricultural Health Study cohort. Am. J. Epidemiol. 157 (9), 800-814.
- Alavanja, M.C., Dosemeci, M., Samanic, C., Lubin, J., Lynch, C.F., Knott, C., Barker, J., Hoppin, J.A., Sandler, D.P., Coble, J., Thomas, K., Blair, A., 2004. Pesticides and lung cancer risk in the agricultural health study cohort. Am. J. Epidemiol. 160 (9), 876-885.
- Alderton, L.E., Spector, L.G., Blair, C.K., Roesler, M., Olshan, A.F., Robison, L.L., Ross, J.A., 2006. Child and maternal household chemical exposure and the risk of acute leukemia in children with Down's syndrome: a report from the Children's Oncology Group. Am. J. Epidemiol. 164 (3), 212–221.
- Alexander, F.E., Patheal, S.L., Biondi, A., Brandalise, S., Cabrera, M.E., Chan, L.C., Chen, Z., Cimino, G., Cordoba, J.C., Gu, L.J., Hussein, H., Ishii, E., Kamel, A.M., Labra, S., Magalhaes, I.Q., Mizutani, S., Petridou, E., de Oliveira, M.P., Yuen, P., Wiemels, J.L., Greaves, M.F., 2001. Transplacental chemical exposure and risk of infant leukemia with MLL gene fusion. Cancer Res. 61 (6), 2542–2546.
- Alguacil, J., Kauppinen, T., Porta, M., Partanen, T., Malats, N., Kogevinas, M., Benavides, F.G., Obiols, J., Bernal, F., Rifa, J., Carrato, A., 2000. Risk of pancreatic cancer and occupational exposures in Spain. PANKRAS II Study Group. Ann. Occup. Hyg. 44 (5), 391-403
- Andreotti, G., Freeman, L.E., Hou, L., Coble, I., Rusiecki, I., Hoppin, I.A., Silverman, D.T., Alavanja, M.C., 2009. Agricultural pesticide use and pancreatic cancer risk in the Agricultural Health Study Cohort. Int. J. Cancer 124 (10), 2495–2500.
- Antov, G., Aianova, A., 1980. Effect of the pesticide, fundazol, on the myocardium of rats with experimental atherosclerosis. Probl. Khig. 5, 58-67.
- Anway, M.D., Skinner, M.K., 2006. Epigenetic transgenerational actions of endocrine disruptors. Endocrinology 147 (6 Suppl.), S43–S49. Anway, M.D., Cupp, A.S., Uzumcu, M., Skinner, M.K., 2005. Epigenetic transgenerational
- actions of endocrine disruptors and male fertility. Science 308 (5727), 1466–1469.
- Arifkhanova, S.I., Ubaidullaeva, K.M., Liverko, I.V., 2007. Mucociliary transport in patients with chronic obstructive lung disease from the cotton-growing areas of
- Uzbekistan. Probl. Tuberk. Bolezn. Legk. (2), 29–31. Ascherio, A., Chen, H., Weisskopf, M.G., O'Reilly, E., McCullough, M.L., Calle, E.E., Schwarzschild, M.A., Thun, M.J., 2006. Pesticide exposure and risk for Parkinson's disease. Ann. Neurol. 60 (2), 197–203. Back, S.H., Kang, S.W., Han, J., Chung, H.T., 2012. Endoplasmic reticulum stress in the
- beta-cell pathogenesis of type 2 diabetes. Exp. Diabetes Res. 2012, 618396.
- Baldi, I., Lebailly, P., 2007. Cancers and pesticides. Rev. Prat. 57 (11 Suppl.), 40-44.
- Baldi, I., Cantagrel, A., Lebailly, P., Tison, F., Dubroca, B., Chrysostome, V., Dartigues, J.F., Brochard, P., 2003a. Association between Parkinson's disease and exposure to pesticides in southwestern France. Neuroepidemiology 22 (5), 305–310.
- Baldi, I., Lebailly, P., Mohammed-Brahim, B., Letenneur, L., Dartigues, J.F., Brochard, P., 2003b. Neurodegenerative diseases and exposure to pesticides in the elderly. Am. J. Epidemiol. 157 (5), 409–414.
- Band, P.R., Le, N.D., Fang, R., Deschamps, M., Gallagher, R.P., Yang, P., 2000. Identification of occupational cancer risks in British Columbia. A population-based casecontrol study of 995 incident breast cancer cases by menopausal status, controlling for confounding factors. J. Occup. Environ. Med. 42 (3), 284–310.
- Band, P.R., Abanto, Z., Bert, J., Lang, B., Fang, R., Gallagher, R.P., Le, N.D., 2011. Prostate cancer risk and exposure to pesticides in British Columbia farmers. Prostate 71 (2), 168-183.
- Barbeau, A., Roy, M., Bernier, G., Campanella, G., Paris, S., 1987. Ecogenetics of Parkinson's disease: prevalence and environmental aspects in rural areas. Can. J. Neurol. Sci. 14 (1), 36-41.
- Barczyk, A., Sozanska, E., Pierzchala, W., 2006. The influence of occupational exposure to pesticides on the frequency of chronic obstructive pulmonary diseases. Wiad. Lek. 59 (9-10), 596-600.
- Barlow, B.K., Richfield, E.K., Cory-Slechta, D.A., Thiruchelvam, M., 2004. A fetal risk factor for Parkinson's disease. Dev. Neurosci. 26 (1), 11–23. Barlow, B.K., Lee, D.W., Cory-Slechta, D.A., Opanashuk, L.A., 2005. Modulation of antiox-
- idant defense systems by the environmental pesticide maneb in dopaminergic cells. Neurotoxicology 26 (1), 63-75.
- Barthel, E., 1981. Increased risk of lung cancer in pesticide-exposed male agricultural workers. J. Toxicol. Environ. Health 8 (5-6), 1027-1040.
- Beane Freeman, L.E., Bonner, M.R., Blair, A., Hoppin, J.A., Sandler, D.P., Lubin, J.H., Dosemeci, M., Lynch, C.F., Knott, C., Alavanja, M.C., 2005. Cancer incidence among male pesticide applicators in the Agricultural Health Study cohort exposed to diazinon. Am. J. Epidemiol. 162 (11), 1070–1079.
- Beard, J., Sladden, T., Morgan, G., Berry, G., Brooks, L., McMichael, A., 2003. Health impacts of pesticide exposure in a cohort of outdoor workers. Environ. Health Perspect. 111 (5), 724-730.
- Begum, K., Rajini, P.S., 2011. Augmentation of hepatic and renal oxidative stress and disrupted glucose homeostasis by monocrotophos in streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats. Chem. Biol. Interact. 193 (3), 240-245.

- Behan, P.O., Haniffah, B.A.G., 1994. Chronic fatigue syndrome: a possible delayed hazard of pesticide exposure. Clin. Infect. Dis, 18 (Supplement 1), S54. Benachour, N., Seralini, G.E., 2009. Glyphosate formulations induce apoptosis and ne-
- crosis in human umbilical, embryonic, and placental cells. Chem. Res. Toxicol. 22 (1), 97-105.
- Blair, A., Grauman, D.J., Lubin, J.H., Fraumeni Jr., J.F., 1983. Lung cancer and other causes of death among licensed pesticide applicators. J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 71 (1), 31-37.
- Bolognesi, C., 2003. Genotoxicity of pesticides: a review of human biomonitoring studies. Mutat. Res. 543, 251-272.
- Bolognesi, C., Parrini, M., Merlo, F., Bonassi, S., 1993. Frequency of micronuclei in lymphocytes from a group of floriculturists exposed to pesticides. J. Toxicol. Environ. Health 40 (2-3), 405-411.
- Bonetta, L., 2002. Pesticide-Parkinson link explored. Nat. Med. 8 (10), 1050.
- Bonner, M.R., Williams, B.A., Rusiecki, J.A., Blair, A., Beane Freeman, L.E., Hoppin, J.A., Dosemeci, M., Lubin, J., Sandler, D.P., Alavanja, M.C., 2010. Occupational exposure to terbufos and the incidence of cancer in the Agricultural Health Study. Cancer Causes Control 21 (6), 871-877.
- Bonvicini, F., Marcello, N., Mandrioli, J., Pietrini, V., Vinceti, M., 2010. Exposure to pesticides and risk of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: a population-based case-control study. Ann. Ist. Super. Sanita 46 (3), 284–287. Braconi, D.B.G., Fiorani, M., Azzolini, C., Marzocchi, B., Proietti, F., Collodel, G., Santucci,
- A., 2010. Oxidative damage induced by herbicides is mediated by thiol oxidation and hydroperoxides production. Free Radic. Res. 44 (8), 891-906.
- Brender, J.D., Felkner, M., Suarez, L., Canfield, M.A., Henry, J.P., 2010. Maternal pesticide exposure and neural tube defects in Mexican Americans. Ann. Epidemiol. 20 (1), 16 - 22.
- Brohy, J.T., Keith, M.M., Gorey, K.M., Laukkanen, E., Hellyer, D., Watterson, A., Reinhartz, A., Gilberston, M., 2002. Occupational histories of cancer patients in a Canadian cancer treatment center and the generated hypothesis regarding breast cancer and farming. Int. J. Occup. Environ. Health 8 (4), 346-353.
- Brown, L.M., Blair, A., Gibson, R., Everett, G.D., Cantor, K.P., Schuman, L.M., Burmeister, L.F., Van Lier, S.F., Dick, F., 1990. Pesticide exposures and other agricultural risk factors for leukemia among men in Iowa and Minnesota. Cancer Res. 50 (20), 6585-6591.
- Brownson, R.C., Alavanja, M.C., Chang, J.C., 1993. Occupational risk factors for lung cancer among nonsmoking women: a case-control study in Missouri (United States). Cancer Causes Control 4 (5), 449-454.
- Brucker-Davis, F., Wagner-Mahler, K., Delattre, I., Ducot, B., Ferrari, P., Bongain, A., Kurzenne, J.Y., Mas, J.C., Fenichel, P., 2008. Cryptorchidism at birth in Nice area (France) is associated with higher prenatal exposure to PCBs and DDE, as assessed by colostrum concentrations. Hum. Reprod. 23 (8), 1708-1718.
- Buckley, J.D., Robison, L.L., Swotinsky, R., Garabrant, D.H., LeBeau, M., Manchester, P., Nesbit, M.E., Odom, L., Peters, J.M., Woods, W.G., et al., 1989. Occupational exposures of parents of children with acute nonlymphocytic leukemia: a report from the Childrens Cancer Study Group. Cancer Res. 49 (14), 4030-4037.
- Buckley, J.D., Buckley, C.M., Ruccione, K., Sather, H.N., Waskerwitz, M.J., Woods, W.G., Robison, L.L., 1994. Epidemiological characteristics of childhood acute lymphocytic leukemia, Analysis by immunophenotype, The Childrens Cancer Group, Leukemia 8 (5), 856-864.
- Buckley, J.D., Meadows, A.T., Kadin, M.E., Le Beau, M.M., Siegel, S., Robison, L.L., 2000. Pesticide exposures in children with non-Hodgkin lymphoma. Cancer 89 (11), 2315-2321
- Bull, S., Fletcher, K., Boobis, A.R., Battershill, J.M., 2006. Evidence for genotoxicity of pes-ticides in pesticide applicators: a review. Mutagenesis 21 (2), 93–103.
- Bumroongkit, K., Rannala, B., Traisathit, P., Srikummool, M., Wongchai, Y., Kangwanpong, D., 2008. TP53 gene mutations of lung cancer patients in upper northern Thailand and environmental risk factors. Cancer Genet. Cytogenet. 185 (1), 20-27.
- Bunin, G.R., Buckley, J.D., Boesel, C.P., Rorke, L.B., Meadows, A.T., 1994. Risk factors for astrocytic glioma and primitive neuroectodermal tumor of the brain in young children: a report from the Children's Cancer Group, Cancer Epidemiol, Biomarkers Prev. 3 (3), 197–204.
- Burmeister, L.F., Everett, G.D., Van Lier, S.F., Isacson, P., 1983. Selected cancer mortality and farm practices in Iowa. Am. J. Epidemiol. 118 (1), 72-77.
- Burns, C.J., Beard, K.K., Cartmill, J.B., 2001. Mortality in chemical workers potentially exposed to 2,4-dichlorophenoxyacetic acid (2,4-D) 1945-94: an update. Occup. Environ. Med. 58 (1), 24-30.
- Burrell, A.M., Handel, A.E., Ramagopalan, S.V., Ebers, G.C., Morahan, J.M., 2011. Epigenetic mechanisms in multiple sclerosis and the major histocompatibility complex (MHC). Discov. Med. 11 (58), 187-196.
- Butterfield, P.G., Valanis, B.G., Spencer, P.S., Lindeman, C.A., Nutt, J.G., 1993. Environmental antecedents of young-onset Parkinson's disease. Neurology 43 (6), 1150–1158. Buzio, L., Tondel, M., De Palma, G., Buzio, C., Franchini, I., Mutti, A., Axelson, O., 2002.
- Occupational risk factors for renal cell cancer. An Italian case-control study. Med. Lav. 93 (4), 303-309.
- Caboni, P., Sherer, T.B., Zhang, N., Taylor, G., Na, H.M., Greenamyre, J.T., Casida, J.E., 2004. Rotenone, deguelin, their metabolites, and the rat model of Parkinson's disease. Chem. Res. Toxicol. 17 (11), 1540-1548.
- Cantor, K.P., 1982. Farming and mortality from non-Hodgkin's lymphoma: a case-control study. Int. J. Cancer 29 (3), 239–247.
 Cantor, K.P., Silberman, W., 1999. Mortality among aerial pesticide applicators and
- flight instructors: follow-up from 1965-1988. Am. J. Ind. Med. 36 (2), 239-247.
- Cantor, K.P., Blair, A., Everett, G., Gibson, R., Burmeister, L.F., Brown, L.M., Schuman, L. Dick, F.R., 1992. Pesticides and other agricultural risk factors for non-Hodgkin's
- lymphoma among men in Iowa and Minnesota. Cancer Res. 52 (9), 2447–2455. Carbonell, E., Puig, M., Xamena, N., Creus, A., Marcos, R., 1990. Sister chromatid ex-change in lymphocytes of agricultural workers exposed to pesticides. Mutagenesis 5 (4), 403-405.

- Carbonell, E., Xamena, N., Creus, A., Marcos, R., 1993. Cytogenetic biomonitoring in a Spanish group of agricultural workers exposed to pesticides. Mutagenesis 8 (6), 511-517.
- Carozza, S.E., Li, B., Elgethun, K., Whitworth, R., 2008. Risk of childhood cancers associated with residence in agriculturally intense areas in the United States. Environ. Health Perspect. 116 (4), 559-565.
- Caudle, W.M., Richardson, J.R., Wang, M., Miller, G.W., 2005. Perinatal heptachlor exposure increases expression of presynaptic dopaminergic markers in mouse striatum. Neurotoxicology 26 (4), 721-728.
- Cavieres, M.F., 2004. Pesticide exposure and reproductive and birth defects. Critical analysis of epidemiological and experimental evidence. Rev. Med. Chil. 132 (7), 873-879.
- Cavieres, M.F., Jaeger, J., Porter, W., 2002. Developmental toxicity of a commercial herbicide mixture in mice: I. Effects on embryo implantation and litter size. Environ. Health Perspect. 110 (11), 1081-1085.
- Cerhan, J.R., Cantor, K.P., Williamson, K., Lynch, C.F., Torner, J.C., Burmeister, L.F., 1998. Cancer mortality among Iowa farmers: recent results, time trends, and lifestyle factors (United States). Cancer Causes Control 9 (3), 311-319.
- Chakraborty, S., Mukherjee, S., Roychoudhury, S., Siddique, S., Lahiri, T., Ray, M.R., 2009. Chronic exposures to cholinesterase-inhibiting pesticides adversely affect respiratory health of agricultural workers in India. J. Occup. Health 51 (6), 488–497. Chamie, K., DeVere White, R.W., Lee, D., Ok, J.H., Ellison, L.M., 2008. Agent Orange expo-
- sure, Vietnam War veterans, and the risk of prostate cancer. Cancer 113 (9), 2464-2470.
- Chan, D.K., Woo, J., Ho, S.C., Pang, C.P., Law, L.K., Ng, P.W., Hung, W.T., Kwok, T., Hui, E., Orr, K., Leung, M.F., Kay, R., 1998. Genetic and environmental risk factors for Parkinson's disease in a Chinese population. J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatry 65 (5), 781-784.
- Chen, Y.Y., Chen, G., Fan, Z., Luo, J., Ke, Z.J., 2008. GSK3beta and endoplasmic reticulum stress mediate rotenone-induced death of SK-N-MC neuroblastoma cells. Biochem. Pharmacol. 76 (1), 128-138.
- Chen, Y.W., Chen, K.L., Chen, C.H., Wu, H.C., Su, C.C., Wu, C.C., Way, T.D., Hung, D.Z., Yen, C.C., Yang, Y.T., Lu, T.H., 2010. Pyrrolidine dithiocarbamate (PDTC)/Cu complex induces lung epithelial cell apoptosis through mitochondria and ER-stress pathways. Toxicol. Lett. 199 (3), 333-340.
- Chevrier, C., Limon, G., Monfort, C., Rouget, F., Garlantezec, R., Petit, C., Durand, G., Cordier, S., 2011. Urinary biomarkers of prenatal atrazine exposure and adverse birth outcomes in the PELAGIE birth cohort. Environ. Health Perspect. 119 (7), 1034-1041.
- Chinta, S.J., Rane, A., Poksay, K.S., Bredesen, D.E., Andersen, J.K., Rao, R.V., 2008. Coupling endoplasmic reticulum stress to the cell death program in dopaminergic cells: effect of paraquat. Neuromolecular Med. 10 (4), 333-342.
- Chiu, B.C., Dave, B.J., Blair, A., Gapstur, S.M., Zahm, S.H., Weisenburger, D.D., 2006. Agricultural pesticide use and risk of t(14;18)-defined subtypes of non-Hodgkin lymphoma. Blood 108 (4), 1363-1369.
- Chou, A.P., Maidment, N., Klintenberg, R., Casida, J.E., Li, S., Fitzmaurice, A.G., Fernagut, P.O., Mortazavi, F., Chesselet, M.F., Bronstein, J.M., 2008. Ziram causes dopaminergic cell damage by inhibiting E1 ligase of the proteasome. J. Biol. Chem. 283 (50), 34696-34703
- Chou, A.P., Li, S., Fitzmaurice, A.G., Bronstein, J.M., 2010. Mechanisms of rotenoneinduced proteasome inhibition. Neurotoxicology 31 (4), 367-372.
- Choy, S., Kim, J.W., 2011. A case of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis in a worker treating pesticide wastes. Korean J. Occup. Environ. Med. 23 (4), 480-487.
- Chrisman Jde, R., Koifman, S., de Novaes Sarcinelli, P., Moreira, J.C., Koifman, R.J., Meyer, A., 2009. Pesticide sales and adult male cancer mortality in Brazil. Int. J. Hyg. Environ. Health 212 (3), 310-321.
- Ciccone, G., Mirabelli, D., Levis, A., Gavarotti, P., Rege-Cambrin, G., Davico, L., Vineis, P., 1993. Myeloid leukemias and myelodysplastic syndromes: chemical exposure, histologic subtype and cytogenetics in a case-control study. Cancer Genet. Cytogenet. 68 (2), 135-139.
- Ciobica, A., Padurariu, M., Dobrin, I., Stefanescu, C., Dobrin, R., 2011. Oxidative stress in schizophrenia - focusing on the main markers. Psychiatr. Danub. 23 (3), 237-245.
- Clavel, J., Hemon, D., Mandereau, L., Delemotte, B., Severin, F., Flandrin, G., 1996. Farming, pesticide use and hairy-cell leukemia. Scand. J. Work Environ. Health 22 (4), 285-293
- Cocco, P., 2002. On the rumors about the silent spring. Review of the scientific evidence linking occupational and environmental pesticide exposure to endocrine disruption health effects. Cad. Saude Publica 18 (2), 379-402.
- Cooper, G.S., Parks, C.G., Treadwell, E.L., St Clair, E.W., Gilkeson, G.S., Dooley, M.A., 2004. Occupational risk factors for the development of systemic lupus erythematosus. J. Rheumatol. 31 (10), 1928-1933.
- Cordier, S., Iglesias, M.J., Le Goaster, C., Guyot, M.M., Mandereau, L., Hemon, D., 1994. Incidence and risk factors for childhood brain tumors in the Ile de France. Int. J. Cancer 59 (6), 776-782.
- Cory-Slechta, D.A., Thiruchelvam, M., Barlow, B.K., Richfield, E.K., 2005. Developmental pesticide models of the Parkinson disease phenotype. Environ. Health Perspect. 113 (9), 1263–1270.
- Costa, L.G., Giordano, G., Guizzetti, M., Vitalone, A., 2008. Neurotoxicity of pesticides: a brief review. Front. Biosci. 13, 1240-1249.
- Costa, C., Silva, S., Neves, J., Coelho, P., Costa, S., Laffon, B., Snawder, J., Teixeira, J.P., 2011. Micronucleus frequencies in lymphocytes and reticulocytes in a pesticideexposed population in Portugal. J. Toxicol. Environ. Health A 74 (15-16), 960-970.
- Costello, S., Cockburn, M., Bronstein, J., Zhang, X., Ritz, B., 2009. Parkinson's disease and residential exposure to maneb and paraquat from agricultural applications in the
- central valley of California. Am. J. Epidemiol. 169 (8), 919–926. Crisp, T.M., Clegg, E.D., Cooper, R.L., Wood, W.P., Anderson, D.G., Baetcke, K.P., Hoffmann, J.L., Morrow, M.S., Rodier, D.J., Schaeffer, J.E., Touart, L.W., Zeeman,

M.G., Patel, Y.M., 1998. Environmental endocrine disruption: an effects assessment and analysis. Environ. Health Perspect. 106 (Suppl. 1), 11-56.

- Cuneo, A., Fagioli, F., Pazzi, I., Tallarico, A., Previati, R., Piva, N., Carli, M.G., Balboni, M., Castoldi, G., 1992. Morphologic, immunologic and cytogenetic studies in acute myeloid leukemia following occupational exposure to pesticides and organic solvents. Leuk. Res. 16 (8), 789-796.
- Daniels, J.L., Olshan, A.F., Teschke, K., Hertz-Picciotto, I., Savitz, D.A., Blatt, J., Bondy, M.L., Neglia, I.P., Pollock, B.H., Cohn, S.L., Look, A.T., Seeger, R.C., Castleberry, R.P., 2001. Residential pesticide exposure and neuroblastoma. Epidemiology 12 (1), 20-27.
- Das, K., Nag, C., Ghosh, M., 2012. Familial, environmental, and occupational risk factors in development of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. N. Am. J. Med. Sci. 4 (8), 350-355.
- Davis, J.R., Brownson, R.C., Garcia, R., Bentz, B.J., Turner, A., 1993. Family pesticide use
- and childhood brain cancer. Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 24 (1), 87–92. De Ferrari, M., Artuso, M., Bonassi, S., Bonatti, S., Cavalieri, Z., Pescatore, D., Marchini, E., Pisano, V., Abbondandolo, A., 1991. Cytogenetic biomonitoring of an Italian population exposed to pesticides: chromosome aberration and sister-chromatid exchange analysis in peripheral blood lymphocytes. Mutat. Res. 260 (1), 105-113.
- De Roos, A.J., Zahm, S.H., Cantor, K.P., Weisenburger, D.D., Holmes, F.F., Burmeister, L.F., Blair, A., 2003. Integrative assessment of multiple pesticides as risk factors for non-Hodgkin's lymphoma among men. Occup. Environ. Med. 60 (9), E11. de Siqueira, M.T., Braga, C., Cabral-Filho, J.E., Augusto, L.G., Figueiroa, J.N., Souza, A.I.,
- 2010. Correlation between pesticide use in agriculture and adverse birth outcomes in Brazil: an ecological study. Bull. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 84 (6), 647-651.
- De Souza, A., Medeiros Ados, R., De Souza, A.C., Wink, M., Siqueira, I.R., Ferreira, M.B., Fernandes, L., Loayza Hidalgo, M.P., Torres, I.L., 2011. Evaluation of the impact of exposure to pesticides on the health of the rural population: Vale do Taquari, State of Rio Grande do Sul (Brazil). Cien. Saude Colet. 16 (8), 3519-3528.
- Delzell, E., Grufferman, S., 1985. Mortality among white and nonwhite farmers in North Carolina, 1976-1978. Am. J. Epidemiol. 121 (3), 391-402.
- Dennis, L.K., Lynch, C.F., Sandler, D.P., Alavanja, M.C., 2010. Pesticide use and cutaneous melanoma in pesticide applicators in the agricultural heath study. Environ. Health Perspect. 118 (6), 812-817.
- Dhawan, A., Bajpayee, M., Parmar, D., 2009. Comet assay: a reliable tool for the assessment of DNA damage in different models. Cell Biol. Toxicol. 25 (1), 5-32.
- Dich, J., Wiklund, K., 1998. Prostate cancer in pesticide applicators in Swedish agriculture. Prostate 34 (2), 100-112.
- Dick, F.D., De Palma, G., Ahmadi, A., Scott, N.W., Prescott, G.J., Bennett, J., Semple, S., Dick, S., Counsell, C., Mozzoni, P., Haites, N., Wettinger, S.B., Mutti, A., Otelea, M., Seaton, A., Soderkvist, P., Felice, A., 2007, Environmental risk factors for Parkinson's disease and parkinsonism: the Geoparkinson study. Occup. Environ. Med. 64 (10), 666-672
- Dickhout, J.G., Carlisle, R.E., Austin, R.C., 2011. Interrelationship between cardiac hypertrophy, heart failure, and chronic kidney disease: endoplasmic reticulum stress as a mediator of pathogenesis. Circ. Res. 108 (5), 629–642. Doi, H., Kikuchi, H., Murai, H., Kawano, Y., Shigeto, H., Ohyagi, Y., Kira, J., 2006. Motor
- neuron disorder simulating ALS induced by chronic inhalation of pyrethroid insecticides. Neurology 67 (10), 1894-1895.
- Dolapsakis, G., Vlachonikolis, I.G., Varveris, C., Tsatsakis, A.M., 2001. Mammographic findings and occupational exposure to pesticides currently in use on Crete. Eur. J. Cancer 37 (12), 1531-1536.
- Donna, A., Crosignani, P., Robutti, F., Betta, P.G., Bocca, R., Mariani, N., Ferrario, F., Fissi, R., Berrino, F., 1989. Triazine herbicides and ovarian epithelial neoplasms. Scand. J. Work Environ. Health 15 (1), 47-53.
- Dosemeci, M., Hoover, R.N., Blair, A., Figgs, L.W., Devesa, S., Grauman, D., Fraumeni Jr., J.F., 1994. Farming and prostate cancer among African-Americans in the southeastern United States. J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 86 (22), 1718-1719.
- Doyle, K.M., Kennedy, D., Gorman, A.M., Gupta, S., Healy, S.J., Samali, A., 2011. Unfolded proteins and endoplasmic reticulum stress in neurodegenerative disorders. J. Cell. Mol. Med. 15 (10), 2025-2039.
- Draper, A., Cullinan, P., Campbell, C., Jones, M., Newman Taylor, A., 2003. Occupational asthma from fungicides fluazinam and chlorothalonil. Occup. Environ. Med. 60 (1), 76-77
- Duell, E.J., Millikan, R.C., Savitz, D.A., Newman, B., Smith, J.C., Schell, M.J., Sandler, D.P., 2000. A population-based case-control study of farming and breast cancer in North Carolina. Epidemiology 11 (5), 523–531.
- Dugas, J., Nieuwenhuijsen, M.J., Martinez, D., Iszatt, N., Nelson, P., Elliott, P., 2010. Use of biocides and insect repellents and risk of hypospadias. Occup. Environ. Med. 67 (3), 196-200
- Dulout, F.N., Pastori, M.C., Olivero, O.A., Gonzalez Cid, M., Loria, D., Matos, E., Sobel, N., de Bujan, E.C., Albiano, N., 1985. Sister-chromatid exchanges and chromosomal aberrations in a population exposed to pesticides. Mutat. Res. 143 (4), 237-244.
- Dutheil, F., Beaune, P., Tzourio, C., Loriot, M.A., Elbaz, A., 2010. Interaction between ABCB1 and professional exposure to organochlorine insecticides in Parkinson disease. Arch. Neurol. 67 (6), 739-745.
- Dwivedi, R.S., Herman, J.G., McCaffrey, T.A., Raj, D.S., 2011. Beyond genetics: epigenetic code in chronic kidney disease. Kidney Int. 79 (1), 23–32. Efird, J.T., Holly, E.A., Preston-Martin, S., Mueller, B.A., Lubin, F., Filippini, G., Peris-Bonet,
- R., McCredie, M., Cordier, S., Arslan, A., Bracci, P.M., 2003. Farm-related exposures and childhood brain tumours in seven countries: results from the SEARCH International Brain Tumour Study. Paediatr. Perinat. Epidemiol. 17 (2), 201-211.
- Elbaz, A., Clavel, J., Rathouz, P.J., Moisan, F., Galanaud, J.P., Delemotte, B., Alperovitch, A., Tzourio, C., 2009. Professional exposure to pesticides and Parkinson disease. Ann. Neurol. 66 (4), 494-504.
- Enoch, R.R., Stanko, J.P., Greiner, S.N., Youngblood, G.L., Rayner, J.L., Fenton, S.E., 2007. Mammary gland development as a sensitive end point after acute prenatal

exposure to an atrazine metabolite mixture in female Long-Evans rats. Environ. Health Perspect. 115 (4), 541–547. Ergene, S., Celik, A., Cavas, T., Kaya, F., 2007. Genotoxic biomonitoring study of popula-

- tion residing in pesticide contaminated regions in Goksu Delta: micronucleus, chromosomal aberrations and sister chromatid exchanges. Environ. Int. 33 (7), 877-885.
- Eriksson, M., Hardell, L., Carlberg, M., Akerman, M., 2008. Pesticide exposure as risk factor for non-Hodgkin lymphoma including histopathological subgroup analysis. Int. J. Cancer 123 (7), 1657-1663.
- Everett, C.J., Matheson, E.M., 2010. Biomarkers of pesticide exposure and diabetes in the 1999-2004 national health and nutrition examination survey. Environ. Int. 36 (4), 398-401.
- Fall, P.A., Fredrikson, M., Axelson, O., Granerus, A.K., 1999. Nutritional and occupational factors influencing the risk of Parkinson's disease: a case-control study in south-eastern Sweden. Mov. Disord. 14 (1), 28-37.
- Faria, N.M., Facchini, L.A., Fassa, A.G., Tomasi, E., 2005. Pesticides and respiratory symptoms among farmers. Rev. Saude Publica 39 (6), 973-981.
- Fear, N.T., Roman, E., Reeves, G., Pannett, B., 1998. Childhood cancer and paternal employment in agriculture: the role of pesticides. Br. J. Cancer 77 (5), 825-829.
- Fei, X., Chung, H., Taylor, H.S., 2005. Methoxychlor disrupts uterine Hoxa10 gene ex-pression. Endocrinology 146 (8), 3445–3451.
- Fendri, C., Mechri, A., Khiari, G., Othman, A., Kerkeni, A., Gaha, L., 2006. Oxidative stress involvement in schizophrenia pathophysiology: a review. Encéphale 32 (2 Pt 1), 244-252.
- Feychting, M., Plato, N., Nise, G., Ahlbom, A., 2001. Paternal occupational exposures and childhood cancer. Environ. Health Perspect. 109 (2), 193–196. Figa-Talamanca, I., Mearelli, I., Valente, P., Bascherini, S., 1993. Cancer mortality in a co-
- hort of rural licensed pesticide users in the province of Rome. Int. J. Epidemiol. 22 (4), 579-583.
- Figa-Talamanca, I., Traina, M.E., Urbani, E., 2001. Occupational exposures to metals, solvents and pesticides: recent evidence on male reproductive effects and biological markers. Occup. Med. (Lond.) 51 (3), 174-188.
- Firestone, J.A., Smith-Weller, T., Franklin, G., Swanson, P., Longstreth Jr., W.T., Checkoway, H., 2005. Pesticides and risk of Parkinson disease: a population-based case-control study. Arch. Neurol. 62 (1), 91-95.
- Fleming, L.E., Bean, J.A., Rudolph, M., Hamilton, K., 1999. Cancer incidence in a cohort of licensed pesticide applicators in Florida. J. Occup. Environ. Med. 41 (4), 279-288.
- Flower, K.B., Hoppin, J.A., Lynch, C.F., Blair, A., Knott, C., Shore, D.L., Sandler, D.P., 2004. Cancer risk and parental pesticide application in children of Agricultural Health Study participants. Environ. Health Perspect. 112 (5), 631–635. Fokina, K.V., Bezuglyi, V.P., 1978. Role of chlora and organophosphate pesticide
- compleses in the etiology of cerebral atherosclerosis. Vrach. Delo (4), 19-23.
- Fong, C.S., Wu, R.M., Shieh, J.C., Chao, Y.T., Fu, Y.P., Kuao, C.L., Cheng, C.W., 2007. Pesticide exposure on southwestern Taiwanese with MnSOD and NQO1 polymorphisms is associated with increased risk of Parkinson's disease. Clin. Chim. Acta 378 (1-2), 136-141.
- Forastiere, F., Quercia, A., Miceli, M., Settimi, L., Terenzoni, B., Rapiti, E., Faustini, A., Borgia, P., Cavariani, F., Perucci, C.A., 1993. Cancer among farmers in central Italy. Scand. J. Work Environ. Health 19 (6), 382-389.
- Fortes, C., Mastroeni, S., Melchi, F., Pilla, M.A., Alotto, M., Antonelli, G., Camaione, D., Bolli, S., Luchetti, E., Pasquini, P., 2007. The association between residential pesticide use and cutaneous melanoma. Eur. J. Cancer 43 (6), 1066-1075.
- Frazier, L.M., 2007. Reproductive disorders associated with pesticide exposure. J. Agromedicine 12 (1), 27-37.
- Freedman, M., 2001. Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis and occupational exposure to 2,4dichlorophenoxyacetic acid. Occup. Environ. Med. 58 (9), 609-610.
- Freire, C., Koifman, S., 2012. Pesticide exposure and Parkinson's disease: epidemiological evidence of association. Neurotoxicology 33 (5), 947-971.
- Frigerio, R., Sanft, K.R., Grossardt, B.R., Peterson, B.J., Elbaz, A., Bower, J.H., Ahlskog, J.E., de Andrade, M., Maraganore, D.M., Rocca, W.A., 2006. Chemical exposures and Parkinson's disease: a population-based case-control study. Mov. Disord. 21 (10), 1688-1692.
- Garabrant, D.H., Held, J., Langholz, B., Peters, J.M., Mack, T.M., 1992. DDT and related compounds and risk of pancreatic cancer. J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 84 (10), 764-771.
- Garaj-Vrhovac, V., Zeljezic, D., 2002. Assessment of genome damage in a population of Croatian workers employed in pesticide production by chromosomal aberration analysis, micronucleus assay and Comet assay. J. Appl. Toxicol. 22 (4), 249-255.
- Garry, V.F., Schreinemachers, D., Harkins, M.E., Griffith, J., 1996. Pesticide appliers, biocides, and birth defects in rural Minnesota. Environ. Health Perspect. 104 (4), 394-399
- Garry, V.F., Tarone, R.E., Kirsch, I.R., Abdallah, J.M., Lombardi, D.P., Long, L.K., Burroughs, B.L., Barr, D.B., Kesner, J.S., 2001. Biomarker correlations of urinary 2,4-D levels in foresters: genomic instability and endocrine disruption. Environ. Health Perspect. 109 (5), 495-500.
- Gatto, N.M., Cockburn, M., Bronstein, J., Manthripragada, A.D., Ritz, B., 2009. Well-water consumption and Parkinson's disease in rural California. Environ. Health Perspect. 117 (12), 1912-1918.
- George, J., Shukla, Y., 2011. Pesticides and cancer: insights into toxicoproteomic-based findings. J. Proteomics 74 (12), 2713-2722.
- Gies, E., Wilde, I., Winget, J.M., Brack, M., Rotblat, B., Novoa, C.A., Balgi, A.D., Sorensen, P.H., Roberge, M., Mayor, T., 2010. Niclosamide prevents the formation of large ubiquitin-containing aggregates caused by proteasome inhibition. PLoS One 5 (12), e14410.
- Giordano, F., Dell'Orco, V., Giannandrea, F., Lauria, L., Valente, P., Figa-Talamanca, I., 2006. Mortality in a cohort of pesticide applicators in an urban setting: sixty years of follow-up. Int. J. Immunopathol. Pharmacol. 19 (4 Suppl.), 61-65.

- Gold, E., Gordis, L., Tonascia, J., Szklo, M., 1979. Risk factors for brain tumors in children. Am. J. Epidemiol. 109 (3), 309–319.
- Gold, L.S., Ward, M.H., Dosemeci, M., De Roos, A.J., 2007. Systemic autoimmune disease mortality and occupational exposures. Arthritis Rheum. 56 (10), 3189-3201.
- Gomez, C., Bandez, M.J., Navarro, A., 2007. Pesticides and impairment of mitochondrial function in relation with the parkinsonian syndrome. Front. Biosci. 12, 1079-1093.
- Gomez-Arroyo, S., Diaz-Sanchez, Y., Meneses-Perez, M.A., Villalobos-Pietrini, R., De Leon-Rodriguez, J., 2000. Cytogenetic biomonitoring in a Mexican floriculture worker group exposed to pesticides. Mutat. Res. 466 (1), 117-124.
- Gonzalez, C.D., Lee, M.S., Marchetti, P., Pietropaolo, M., Towns, R., Vaccaro, M.I., Watada, H., Wiley, J.W., 2011. The emerging role of autophagy in the pathophysiology of diabetes mellitus. Autophagy 7 (1), 2-11.
- Gonzalez-Polo, R.A., Niso-Santano, M., Ortiz-Ortiz, M.A., Gomez-Martin, A., Moran, J.M., Garcia-Rubio, L., Francisco-Morcillo, J., Zaragoza, C., Soler, G., Fuentes, J.M., 2007. Inhibition of paraquat-induced autophagy accelerates the apoptotic cell death in neuroblastoma SH-SY5Y cells. Toxicol. Sci. 97 (2), 448–458.
- Gorell, J.M., Johnson, C.C., Rybicki, B.A., Peterson, E.L., Richardson, R.J., 1998. The risk of Parkinson's disease with exposure to pesticides, farming, well water, and rural living. Neurology 50 (5), 1346-1350.
- Gravina, S., Vijg, J., 2010. Epigenetic factors in aging and longevity. Pflugers Arch. 459 (2), 247-258.
- Gray Jr., L.E., Ostby, J., Monosson, E., Kelce, W.R., 1999. Environmental antiandrogens: low doses of the fungicide vinclozolin alter sexual differentiation of the male rat. Toxicol. Ind. Health 15 (1–2), 48–64.
- Greenlee, A.R., Arbuckle, T.E., Chyou, P.H., 2003. Risk factors for female infertility in an agricultural region. Epidemiology 14 (4), 429–436. Greenlee, A.R., Ellis, T.M., Berg, R.L., 2004. Low-dose agrochemicals and lawn-care pes-
- ticides induce developmental toxicity in murine preimplantation embryos. Environ. Health Perspect. 112 (6), 703-709.
- Grosicka-Maciag, E., 2011. Biological consequences of oxidative stress induced by pesticides. Postepy Hig. Med. Dosw. 65, 357-366.
- Grover, P., Danadevi, K., Mahboob, M., Rozati, R., Banu, B.S., Rahman, M.F., 2003. Evaluation of genetic damage in workers employed in pesticide production utilizing the Comet assay. Mutagenesis 18 (2), 201–205.
- Guerrero-Bosagna, C., Settles, M., Lucker, B., Skinner, M.K., 2010. Epigenetic transgenerational actions of vinclozolin on promoter regions of the sperm epigenome. PLoS One 5 (9).
- Guy, R.C., 2005. Toxicity testing, mutagenicity. In: Wexler, P., Anderson, B.D., Peyster,
- A.D., et al. (Eds.), Encyclopedia of Toxicology. Elsevier Inc.
 Habibi, E., Masoudi-Nejad, A., Abdolmaleky, H.M., Haggarty, S.J., 2011. Emerging roles of epigenetic mechanisms in Parkinson's disease. Funct. Integr. Genomics 11 (4), 523-537.
- Hamlin, H.J., Guillette Jr., L.J., 2010. Birth defects in wildlife: the role of environmental contaminants as inducers of reproductive and developmental dysfunction. Syst. Biol. Reprod. Med. 56 (2), 113-121.
- Hancock, D.B., Martin, E.R., Mayhew, G.M., Stajich, J.M., Jewett, R., Stacy, M.A., Scott, B.L., Vance, J.M., Scott, W.K., 2008. Pesticide exposure and risk of Parkinson's disease: a family-based case-control study. BMC Neurol. 8, 6.
- Hardell, L, Eriksson, M., 1999. A case-control study of non-Hodgkin lymphoma and exposure to pesticides. Cancer 85 (6), 1353-1360.
- Hardell, L., Eriksson, M., Nordstrom, M., 2002. Exposure to pesticides as risk factor for non-Hodgkin's lymphoma and hairy cell leukemia: pooled analysis of two Swedish case-control studies. Leuk. Lymphoma 43 (5), 1043–1049.
- Hayden, K.M., Norton, M.C., Darcey, D., Ostbye, T., Zandi, P.P., Breitner, J.C., Welsh-Bohmer, K.A., 2010. Occupational exposure to pesticides increases the risk of incident AD: the Cache County study. Neurology 74 (19), 1524-1530.
- Hernandez, A.F., Parron, T., Alarcon, R., 2011. Pesticides and asthma. Curr. Opin. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 11 (2), 90-96.
- Hertzman, C., Wiens, M., Snow, B., Kelly, S., Calne, D., 1994. A case-control study of Parkinson's disease in a horticultural region of British Columbia. Mov. Disord. 9 (1), 69-75.
- Hoar, S.K., Blair, A., Holmes, F.F., Boysen, C.D., Robel, R.J., Hoover, R., Fraumeni Jr., J.F., 1986. Agricultural herbicide use and risk of lymphoma and soft-tissue sarcoma. JAMA 256 (9), 1141-1147.
- Holly, E.A., Aston, D.A., Ahn, D.K., Kristiansen, J.J., 1992. Ewing's bone sarcoma, paternal occupational exposure, and other factors, Am. J. Epidemiol. 135 (2), 122-129.
- Holly, E.A., Bracci, P.M., Mueller, B.A., Preston-Martin, S., 1998. Farm and animal exposures and pediatric brain tumors: results from the United States West Coast Childhood Brain Tumor Study. Cancer Epidemiol. Biomarkers Prev. 7 (9), 797-802.
- Hoppin, J.A., Umbach, D.M., London, S.J., Alavanja, M.C., Sandler, D.P., 2002. Chemical predictors of wheeze among farmer pesticide applicators in the Agricultural Health Study. Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med. 165 (5), 683–689.
- Hoppin, J.A., Valcin, M., Henneberger, P.K., Kullman, G.J., Umbach, D.M., London, S.J., Alavanja, M.C., Sandler, D.P., 2007. Pesticide use and chronic bronchitis among farmers in the Agricultural Health Study. Am. J. Ind. Med. 50 (12), 969-979.
- Hoppin, J.A., Umbach, D.M., London, S.J., Henneberger, P.K., Kullman, G.J., Alavanja, M.C., Sandler, D.P., 2008. Pesticides and atopic and nonatopic asthma among farm women in the Agricultural Health Study. Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med. 177 (1), 11-18.
- Hossain, M.M., Richardson, J.R., 2011. Mechanism of pyrethroid pesticide-induced apoptosis: role of calpain and the ER stress pathway. Toxicol. Sci. 122 (2), 512-525.
- Hou, L., Lee, W.J., Rusiecki, J., Hoppin, J.A., Blair, A., Bonner, M.R., Lubin, J.H., Samanic, C., Sandler, D.P., Dosemeci, M., Alavanja, M.C., 2006. Pendimethalin exposure and can-
- cer incidence among pesticide applicators. Epidemiology 17 (3), 302–307. Hu, J., Mao, Y., White, K., 2002. Renal cell carcinoma and occupational exposure to chemicals in Canada. Occup. Med. (Lond.) 52 (3), 157-164.

172

- Hubble, J.P., Cao, T., Hassanein, R.E., Neuberger, J.S., Koller, W.C., 1993. Risk factors for
- Parkinson's disease. Neurology 43 (9), 1693–1697. Hubble, J.P., Kurth, J.H., Glatt, S.L., Kurth, M.C., Schellenberg, G.D., Hassanein, R.E., Lieberman, A., Koller, W.C., 1998. Gene-toxin interaction as a putative risk factor for Parkinson's disease with dementia. Neuroepidemiology 17 (2), 96-104.
- cky, J., Casida, J.E., 1969. Uncoupling action of 2,4-dinitrophenols, 2-trifluoromethylbenzimidazoles and certain other pesticide chemicals upon mito-Ilivicky, chondria from different sources and its relation to toxicity. Biochem, Pharmacol. 18 (6), 1389-1401.
- Infante-Rivard, C., Labuda, D., Krajinovic, M., Sinnett, D., 1999. Risk of childhood leukemia associated with exposure to pesticides and with gene polymorphisms. Epidemiology 10 (5), 481-487.
- Jablonicka, A., Polakova, H., Karelova, J., Vargova, M., 1989. Analysis of chromosome aberrations and sister-chromatid exchanges in peripheral blood lymphocytes of workers with occupational exposure to the mancozeb-containing fungicide Novozir Mn80. Mutat. Res. 224 (2), 143-146.
- Jaga, K., Dharmani, C., 2005. The epidemiology of pesticide exposure and cancer: a review. Rev. Environ. Health 20 (1), 15-38.
- Jamshidi, H.R., Ghahremani, M.H., Ostad, S.N., Sharifzadeh, M., Dehpour, A.R., Abdollahi, M., 2009. Effects of diazinon on the activity and gene expression of mitochondrial glutamate dehydrogenase from rat pancreatic Langerhans islets. Pest. Biochem. Physiol. 93 (1), 23-27.
- Jansson, C., Plato, N., Johansson, A.L., Nyren, O., Lagergren, J., 2006. Airborne occupational exposures and risk of oesophageal and cardia adenocarcinoma. Occup. Environ. Med. 63 (2), 107-112.
- Ji, B.T., Silverman, D.T., Stewart, P.A., Blair, A., Swanson, G.M., Baris, D., Greenberg, R.S., Hayes, R.B., Brown, L.M., Lillemoe, K.D., Schoenberg, J.B., Pottern, L.M., Schwartz, A.G., Hoover, R.N., 2001. Occupational exposure to pesticides and pancreatic cancer. Am. J. Ind. Med. 39 (1), 92-99.
- Jia, Z., Misra, H.P., 2007. Developmental exposure to pesticides zineb and/or endosulfan renders the nigrostriatal dopamine system more susceptible to these environmental chemicals later in life. Neurotoxicology 28 (4), 727-735.
- Johnson, F.O., Atchison, W.D., 2009. The role of environmental mercury, lead and pesticide exposure in development of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Neurotoxicology 30 (5), 761–765.
- Johri, A., Beal, M.F., 2012. Mitochondrial dysfunction in neurodegenerative diseases. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 342 (3), 619-630.
- Jones, N., 2010. Alzheimer disease: risk of dementia and Alzheimer disease increases with occupational pesticide exposure. Nat. Rev. Neurol. 6 (7), 353.
- Jones, P.A., Baylin, S.B., 2002. The fundamental role of epigenetic events in cancer. Nat. Rev. Genet. 3 (6), 415–428.
- Joshi, C.S., Bansal, B., Jasuja, N.D., 2011. Evaluation of reproductive and developmental toxicity of cypermethrin in male albino rats. Toxicol. Environ. Chem. 93 (3), 593-602. Jungmann, G., 1966. Arsenic cancer in vintagers. Landarzt 42 (28), 1244-1247.
- Kamel, F., Tanner, C., Umbach, D., Hoppin, J., Alavanja, M., Blair, A., Comyns, K., Goldman, S., Korell, M., Langston, J., Ross, G., Sandler, D., 2007. Pesticide exposure and self-reported Parkinson's disease in the agricultural health study. Am. J. Epidemiol. 165 (4), 364-374.
- Kamel, F., Umbach, D.M., Bedlack, R.S., Richards, M., Watson, M., Alavanja, M.C., Blair, A., Hoppin, J.A., Schmidt, S., Sandler, D.P., 2012. Pesticide exposure and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Neurotoxicology 33 (3), 457-462.
- Kanavouras, K., Tzatzarakis, M.N., Mastorodemos, V., Plaitakis, A., Tsatsakis, A.M., 2011. A case report of motor neuron disease in a patient showing significant level of DDTs, HCHs and organophosphate metabolites in hair as well as levels of hexane and toluene in blood. Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol. 256 (3), 399-404.
- Kang, D., Park, S.K., Beane-Freeman, L., Lynch, C.F., Knott, C.E., Sandler, D.P., Hoppin, J.A., Dosemeci, M., Coble, J., Lubin, J., Blair, A., Alavanja, M., 2008. Cancer incidence among pesticide applicators exposed to trifluralin in the Agricultural Health Study. Environ. Res. 107 (2), 271–276.
- Kanthasamy, A., K.M., Kaul, S., Anantharam, S.V., Kanthasamy, A.G., 2002. A novel oxidative stress dependent apoptotic pathway in pesticide-induced dopaminergic degeneration in PD models. J. Neurochem. 81 (s1), 76.
- Karami, S., Boffetta, P., Rothman, N., Hung, R.J., Stewart, T., Zaridze, D., Navritalova, M., Mates, D., Janout, V., Kollarova, H., Bencko, V., Szeszenia-Dabrowska, N., Holcatova, I., Mukeria, A., Gromiec, J., Chanock, S.J., Brennan, P., Chow, W.H., Moore, L.E., 2008. Renal cell carcinoma, occupational pesticide exposure and modification by glutathione S-transferase polymorphisms. Carcinogenesis 29 (8), 1567-1571.
- Karami-Mohajeri, S., Abdollahi, M., 2011. Toxic influence of organophosphate, carbamate, and organochlorine pesticides on cellular metabolism of lipids, proteins, and carbohydrates: a systematic review. Hum. Exp. Toxicol. 30, 1119-1140.
- Kauppinen, T., Partanen, T., Degerth, R., Ojajarvi, A., 1995. Pancreatic cancer and occupational exposures. Epidemiology 6 (5), 498–502. Keller-Byrne, J.E., Khuder, S.A., Schaub, E.A., 1997. Meta-analyses of prostate cancer and
- farming. Am. J. Ind. Med. 31 (5), 580-586.
- Khuder, S.A., Schaub, E.A., Keller-Byrne, J.E., 1998. Meta-analyses of non-Hodgkin's lymphoma and farming. Scand. J. Work Environ. Health 24 (4), 255–261.
- Kim, J.A., Wei, Y., Sowers, J.R., 2008. Role of mitochondrial dysfunction in insulin resistance. Circ. Res. 102 (4), 401-414.
- Kim, K.Y., Kim, D.S., Lee, S.K., Lee, I.K., Kang, J.H., Chang, Y.S., Jacobs, D.R., Steffes, M., Lee, D.H., 2010. Association of low-dose exposure to persistent organic pollutants with global DNA hypomethylation in healthy Koreans. Environ. Health Perspect. 118 (3), 370-374.
- Kim, M.K., Kim, H.S., Lee, I.K., Park, K.G., 2012. Endoplasmic reticulum stress and insulin biosynthesis: a review. Exp. Diabetes Res. 2012, 509437. Kogevinas, M., Kauppinen, T., Winkelmann, R., Becher, H., Bertazzi, P.A., Bueno-de-
- Mesquita, H.B., Coggon, D., Green, L., Johnson, E., Littorin, M., et al., 1995. Soft tissue

sarcoma and non-Hodgkin's lymphoma in workers exposed to phenoxy herbicides, chlorophenols, and dioxins: two nested case-control studies. Epidemiology 6 (4), 396 - 402

- Kojima, H., Takeuchi, S., Nagai, T., 2010. Endocrine disrupting potential of pesticides via nuclear receptors and aryl hydrocarbon receptor. J. Health Sci. 56 (4), 374-386.
- Koller, W., Vetere-Overfield, B., Gray, C., Alexander, C., Chin, T., Dolezal, J., Hassanein, R Tanner, C., 1990. Environmental risk factors in Parkinson's disease. Neurology 40 (8), 1218-1221.
- Kolmodin-Hedman, B., Swensson, A., Akerblom, M., 1982. Occupational exposure to some synthetic pyrethroids (permethrin and fenvalerate). Arch. Toxicol. 50 (1), 27-33.
- Koumenis, C., 2006. ER stress, hypoxia tolerance and tumor progression. Curr. Mol. Med. 6 (1), 55-69.
- Koutros, S., Lynch, C.F., Ma, X., Lee, W.J., Hoppin, J.A., Christensen, C.H., Andreotti, G., Freeman, L.B., Rusiecki, J.A., Hou, L., Sandler, D.P., Alavanja, M.C., 2009. Heterocyclic aromatic amine pesticide use and human cancer risk: results from the U.S. Agricultural Health Study. Int. J. Cancer 124 (5), 1206–1212.
- Kouznetsova, M., Huang, X., Ma, J., Lessner, L., Carpenter, D.O., 2007. Increased rate of hospitalization for diabetes and residential proximity of hazardous waste sites. Environ. Health Perspect. 115 (1), 75-79.
- Kristensen, P., Andersen, A., Irgens, L.M., Bye, A.S., Sundheim, L., 1996a. Cancer in offspring of parents engaged in agricultural activities in Norway: incidence and risk factors in the farm environment. Int. J. Cancer 65 (1), 39-50.
- Kristensen, P., Andersen, A., Irgens, L.M., Laake, P., Bye, A.S., 1996b. Incidence and risk factors of cancer among men and women in Norwegian agriculture. Scand. J. Work Environ. Health 22 (1), 14-26.
- Kross, B.C., Burmeister, L.F., Ogilvie, L.K., Fuortes, L.J., Fu, C.M., 1996. Proportionate mor-tality study of golf course superintendents. Am. J. Ind. Med. 29 (5), 501–506.
- Kumar, S., 2004. Occupational exposure associated with reproductive dysfunction. J. Occup. Health 46 (1), 1-19. Kwok, J.B., 2010. Role of epigenetics in Alzheimer's and Parkinson's disease.
- Epigenomics 2 (5), 671-682.
- Lafiura, K.M., Bielawski, D.M., Posecion Jr., N.C., Ostrea Jr., E.M., Matherly, L.H., Taub, J.W., Ge, Y., 2007. Association between prenatal pesticide exposures and the gener-ation of leukemia-associated T(8;21). Pediatr. Blood Cancer 49 (5), 624–628.
- Lander, B.F., Knudsen, L.E., Gamborg, M.O., Jarventaus, H., Norppa, H., 2000. Chromosome aberrations in pesticide-exposed greenhouse workers. Scand. J. Work Environ. Health 26 (5), 436-442.
- Landgren, O., Kyle, R.A., Hoppin, J.A., Beane Freeman, L.E., Cerhan, J.R., Katzmann, J.A., Rajkumar, S.V., Alavanja, M.C., 2009. Pesticide exposure and risk of monoclonal gammopathy of undetermined significance in the Agricultural Health Study. Blood 113 (25), 6386–6391.
- Langston, J.W., 1996. The etiology of Parkinson's disease with emphasis on the MPTP story. Neurology 47 (6 Suppl. 3), S153-S160.
- Laurent, C., Jadot, P., Chabut, C., 1996. Unexpected decrease in cytogenetic biomarkers frequencies observed after increased exposure to organophosphorous pesticides in a production plant. Int. Arch. Occup. Environ. Health 68 (6), 399–404.
- Laval, G., Tuyns, A.J., 1988. Environmental factors in childhood leukaemia. Br. J. Ind. Med. 45 (12), 843-844.
- Lebailly, P., Vigreux, C., Lechevrel, C., Ledemeney, D., Godard, T., Sichel, F., LeTalaer, J.Y., Henry-Amar, M., Gauduchon, P., 1998. DNA damage in mononuclear leukocytes of farmers measured using the alkaline comet assay: modifications of DNA damage levels after a one-day field spraying period with selected pesticides. Cancer Epidemiol. Biomarkers Prev. 7 (10), 929–940.
- Lee, H.K., 2011. Mitochondrial dysfunction and insulin resistance: the contribution of dioxin-like substances. Diabetes Metab. J. 35 (3), 207-215.
- Lee, A.S., Hendershot, L.M., 2006. ER stress and cancer. Cancer Biol. Ther. 5 (7), 721-722. Lee, W.J., Blair, A., Hoppin, J.A., Lubin, J.H., Rusiecki, J.A., Sandler, D.P., Dosemeci, M.,
- Alavanja, M.C., 2004a. Cancer incidence among pesticide applicators exposed to chlor-pyrifos in the Agricultural Health Study. J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 96 (23), 1781–1789. Lee, W.J., Hoppin, J.A., Blair, A., Lubin, J.H., Dosemeci, M., Sandler, D.P., Alavanja, M.C., 2004b. Cancer incidence among pesticide applicators exposed to alachlor in the Agricultural Health Study. Am. J. Épidemiol. 159 (4), 373–380.
- Lee, W.J., Colt, J.S., Heineman, E.F., McComb, R., Weisenburger, D.D., Lijinsky, W., Ward, M.H., 2005. Agricultural pesticide use and risk of glioma in Nebraska, United States. Occup. Environ. Med. 62 (11), 786–792.
- Lee, W.J., Sandler, D.P., Blair, A., Samanic, C., Cross, A.J., Alavanja, M.C., 2007. Pesticide use and colorectal cancer risk in the Agricultural Health Study. Int. J. Cancer 121 (2), 339-346.
- Lee, D.H., Steffes, M.W., Sjodin, A., Jones, R.S., Needham, L.L., Jacobs Jr., D.R., 2010. Low dose of some persistent organic pollutants predicts type 2 diabetes: a nested case-control study. Environ. Health Perspect. 118 (9), 1235–1242.
- Leiss, J.K., Savitz, D.A., 1995. Home pesticide use and childhood cancer: a case-control study. Am. J. Public Health 85 (2), 249-252.
- Lemaire, G., Balaguer, P., Michel, S., Rahmani, R., 2005. Activation of retinoic acid receptor-dependent transcription by organochlorine pesticides. Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol. 202 (1), 38-49.
- Lessenger, J.E., 1992. Five office workers inadvertently exposed to cypermethrin. J. Toxicol. Environ. Health 35 (4), 261–267. LeVan, T.D., Koh, W.P., Lee, H.P., Koh, D., Yu, M.C., London, S.J., 2006. Vapor, dust, and
- smoke exposure in relation to adult-onset asthma and chronic respiratory symptoms: the Singapore Chinese Health Study. Am. J. Epidemiol. 163 (12), 1118-1128.
- Levine, B., Kroemer, G., 2008. Autophagy in the pathogenesis of disease. Cell 132 (1), 27-42
- Lim, S., Ahn, S.Y., Song, I.C., Chung, M.H., Jang, H.C., Park, K.S., Lee, K.U., Pak, Y.K., Lee, H.K., 2009. Chronic exposure to the herbicide, atrazine, causes mitochondrial dysfunction and insulin resistance. PLoS One 4 (4), e5186.

S. Mostafalou, M. Abdollahi / Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology 268 (2013) 157-177

- Lin, M.T., Beal, M.F., 2006. Mitochondrial dysfunction and oxidative stress in neurode-generative diseases. Nature 443 (7113), 787–795.
- Lindholm, D., Wootz, H., Korhonen, L., 2006. ER stress and neurodegenerative diseases. Cell Death Differ. 13 (3), 385-392.
- Littorin, M., Attewell, R., Skerfving, S., Horstmann, V., Moller, T., 1993. Mortality and tumour morbidity among Swedish market gardeners and orchardists. Int. Arch. Occup. Environ. Health 65 (3), 163–169.
- Lo, A.C., Soliman, A.S., El-Ghawalby, N., Abdel-Wahab, M., Fathy, O., Khaled, H.M., Omar, S., Hamilton, S.R., Greenson, J.K., Abbruzzese, J.L., 2007. Lifestyle, occupational, and reproductive factors in relation to pancreatic cancer risk. Pancreas 35 (2), 120-129.
- Lo, A.C., Soliman, A.S., Khaled, H.M., Aboelyazid, A., Greenson, J.K., 2010. Lifestyle, occupational, and reproductive factors and risk of colorectal cancer. Dis. Colon Rectum 53 (5), 830-837.
- Lope, V., Perez-Gomez, B., Aragones, N., Lopez-Abente, G., Gustavsson, P., Plato, N., Zock, J.P., Pollan, M., 2008. Occupation, exposure to chemicals, sensitizing agents, and risk of multiple myeloma in Sweden. Cancer Epidemiol. Biomarkers Prev. 17 (11), 3123-3127
- Lowell, B.B., Shulman, G.I., 2005. Mitochondrial dysfunction and type 2 diabetes. Science 307 (5708), 384-387.
- Lowengart, R.A., Peters, J.M., Cicioni, C., Buckley, J., Bernstein, L., Preston-Martin, S., Rappaport, E., 1987. Childhood leukemia and parents' occupational and home exposures. J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 79 (1), 39-46.
- Lund, G., Zaina, S., 2011. Atherosclerosis: an epigenetic balancing act that goes wrong. Curr. Atheroscler. Rep. 13 (3), 208-214.
- Lushchak, V.I., Gospodaryov, D.V., 2012. Oxidative Stress and Diseases. InTech
- Lynch, S.M., Mahajan, R., Beane Freeman, L.E., Hoppin, J.A., Alavanja, M.C., 2009. Cancer incidence among pesticide applicators exposed to butylate in the Agricultural Health Study (AHS). Environ. Res. 109 (7), 860–868.
- Ma, X., Buffler, P.A., Gunier, R.B., Dahl, G., Smith, M.T., Reinier, K., Reynolds, P., 2002. Critical windows of exposure to household pesticides and risk of childhood leukemia. Environ. Health Perspect. 110 (9), 955-960.
- Ma, Z.A., Zhao, Z., Turk, J., 2012. Mitochondrial dysfunction and beta-cell failure in type 2 diabetes mellitus. Exp. Diabetes Res. 2012, 703538. MacLennan, P.A., Delzell, E., Sathiakumar, N., Myers, S.L., Cheng, H., Grizzle, W., Chen,
- V.W., Wu, X.C., 2002. Cancer incidence among triazine herbicide manufacturing workers. J. Occup. Environ. Med. 44 (11), 1048-1058.
- Magnani, C., Pastore, G., Luzzatto, L., Carli, M., Lubrano, P., Terracini, B., 1989. Risk factors for soft tissue sarcomas in childhood: a case-control study. Tumori 75 (4), 396-400.
- Magnani, C., Pastore, G., Luzzatto, L., Terracini, B., 1990. Parental occupation and other environmental factors in the etiology of leukemias and non-Hodgkin's lymphomas in childhood: a case-control study. Tumori 76 (5), 413-419.
- Mahajan, R., Blair, A., Lynch, C.F., Schroeder, P., Hoppin, J.A., Sandler, D.P., Alavanja, M.C., 2006. Fonofos exposure and cancer incidence in the agricultural health study. Environ. Health Perspect. 114 (12), 1838–1842. Mahajan, R., Blair, A., Coble, J., Lynch, C.F., Hoppin, J.A., Sandler, D.P., Alavanja, M.C.,
- 2007. Carbaryl exposure and incident cancer in the Agricultural Health Study. Int. J. Cancer 121 (8), 1799-1805.
- Manthripragada, A.D., Costello, S., Cockburn, M.G., Bronstein, J.M., Ritz, B., 2010. Paraoxonase 1, agricultural organophosphate exposure, and Parkinson disease. Epidemiology 21 (1), 87-94.
- Martin, L.J., 2012. Biology of mitochondria in neurodegenerative diseases. Prog. Mol. Biol. Transl. Sci. 107, 355–415.
- Maslansky, C.J., Williams, G.M., 1981. Evidence for an epigenetic mode of action in organochlorine pesticide hepatocarcinogenicity: a lack of genotoxicity in rat, mouse, and hamster hepatocytes. J. Toxicol. Environ. Health 8 (1-2), 121-130.
- McDuffie, H.H., Pahwa, P., McLaughlin, J.R., Spinelli, J.J., Fincham, S., Dosman, J.A., Robson, D., Skinnider, L.F., Choi, N.W., 2001. Non-Hodgkin's lymphoma and specific pesticide exposures in men: cross-Canada study of pesticides and health. Cancer Èpidemiol. Biomarkers Prev. 10 (11), 1155–1163.
- McGuire, V., Longstreth Jr., W.T., Nelson, L.M., Koepsell, T.D., Checkoway, H., Morgan, M.S., van Belle, G., 1997. Occupational exposures and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. A population-based case-control study. Am. J. Epidemiol. 145 (12), 1076-1088.
- McKinlay, R., Plant, J.A., Bell, J.N., Voulvoulis, N., 2008. Endocrine disrupting pesticides:
- implications for risk assessment. Environ. Int. 34 (2), 168–183. Meeker, J.D., Ryan, L., Barr, D.B., Hauser, R., 2006. Exposure to nonpersistent insecticides and male reproductive hormones. Epidemiology 17 (1), 61-68.
- Meinert, R., Kaatsch, P., Kaletsch, U., Krummenauer, F., Miesner, A., Michaelis, J., 1996. Childhood leukaemia and exposure to pesticides: results of a case-control study in northern Germany. Eur. J. Cancer 32A (11), 1943–1948. Meinert, R., Schuz, J., Kaletsch, U., Kaatsch, P., Michaelis, J., 2000. Leukemia and non-
- Hodgkin's lymphoma in childhood and exposure to pesticides: results of a registerbased case-control study in Germany. Am. J. Epidemiol. 151 (7), 639-646 (discussion 647-650).
- Mellemgaard, A., Engholm, G., McLaughlin, J.K., Olsen, J.H., 1994. Occupational risk factors for renal-cell carcinoma in Denmark. Scand. J. Work Environ. Health 20 (3), 160 - 165
- Menegaux, F., Baruchel, A., Bertrand, Y., Lescoeur, B., Leverger, G., Nelken, B., Sommelet. D., Hemon, D., Clavel, J., 2006. Household exposure to pesticides and risk of childhood acute leukaemia. Occup. Environ. Med. 63 (2), 131-134.
- Menegon, A., Board, P.G., Blackburn, A.C., Mellick, G.D., Le Couteur, D.G., 1998. Parkinson's disease, pesticides, and glutathione transferase polymorphisms. Lancet 352 (9137), 1344-1346.
- Merhi, M., Raynal, H., Cahuzac, E., Vinson, F., Cravedi, J.P., Gamet-Payrastre, L., 2007. Occupational exposure to pesticides and risk of hematopoietic cancers: meta-analysis of case-control studies. Cancer Causes Control 18 (10), 1209-1226.

- Merletti, F., Richiardi, L., Bertoni, F., Ahrens, W., Buemi, A., Costa-Santos, C., Eriksson, M., Guenel, P., Kaerlev, L., Jockel, K.H., Llopis-Gonzalez, A., Merler, E., Miranda, A., Morales-Suarez-Varela, M.M., Olsson, H., Fletcher, T., Olsen, J., 2006. Occupational factors and risk of adult bone sarcomas: a multicentric case-control study in Europe. Int. J. Cancer 118 (3), 721-727.
- Meyer, T.E., Coker, A.L., Sanderson, M., Symanski, E., 2007. A case-control study of farming and prostate cancer in African-American and Caucasian men. Occup. Environ. Med. 64 (3), 155-160.
- Miligi, L., Costantini, A.S., Veraldi, A., Benvenuti, A., Vineis, P., 2006. Cancer and pesticides: an overview and some results of the Italian multicenter case-control study on hematolymphopoietic malignancies. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 1076, 366-377.
- Mills, P.K., 1998. Correlation analysis of pesticide use data and cancer incidence rates in California counties. Arch. Environ. Health 53 (6), 410-413.
- Mills, P.K., Yang, R., 2003. Prostate cancer risk in California farm workers. J. Occup. Environ. Med. 45 (3), 249-258.
- Mills, P.K., Yang, R., 2005. Breast cancer risk in Hispanic agricultural workers in California. Int. J. Occup. Environ. Health 11 (2), 123-131.
- Mills, P.K., Yang, R.C., 2007. Agricultural exposures and gastric cancer risk in Hispanic farm workers in California. Environ. Res. 104 (2), 282–289. Mills, P.K., Newell, G.R., Johnson, D.E., 1984. Testicular cancer associated with employ-
- ment in agriculture and oil and natural gas extraction. Lancet 1 (8370), 207–210. Monge, P., Wesseling, C., Guardado, J., Lundberg, I., Ahlbom, A., Cantor, K.P., Weiderpass, E., Partanen, T., 2007. Parental occupational exposure to pesticides and the risk of childhood leukemia in Costa Rica. Scand. J. Work Environ. Health 33 (4), 293-303.
- Montgomery, M.P., Kamel, F., Saldana, T.M., Alavanja, M.C., Sandler, D.P., 2008. Incident diabetes and pesticide exposure among licensed pesticide applicators: Agricultural Health Study, 1993–2003. Am. J. Epidemiol. 167 (10), 1235–1246.
- Moore, L.E., Gold, L., Stewart, P.A., Gridley, G., Prince, J.R., Zahm, S.H., 2005. Parental occupational exposures and Ewing's sarcoma. Int. J. Cancer 114 (3), 472-478.
- Morahan, J.M., Pamphlett, R., 2006. Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis and exposure to environmental toxins: an Australian case-control study. Neuroepidemiology 27 (3), 130 - 135
- Moretto, A., 1991. Indoor spraying with the pyrethroid insecticide lambda-cyhalothrin: effects on spraymen and inhabitants of sprayed houses. Bull. World Health Organ. 69 (5), 591-594.
- Morrison, H., Savitz, D., Semenciw, R., Hulka, B., Mao, Y., Morison, D., Wigle, D., 1993. Farming and prostate cancer mortality. Am. J. Epidemiol. 137 (3), 270–280. Morrison, H.I., Semenciw, R.M., Wilkins, K., Mao, Y., Wigle, D.T., 1994. Non-Hodgkin's
- lymphoma and agricultural practices in the prairie provinces of Canada. Scand. J. Work Environ. Health 20 (1), 42-47.
- Morton, W.E., Crawford, E.D., Maricle, R.A., Douglas, D.D., Freed, V.H., 1975. Hypertension in Oregon pesticide-formulating workers. J. Occup. Med. 17 (3), 182-185.
- Mostafalou, S., Abdollahi, M., 2012a. Concerns of environmental persistence of pesticides and human chronic diseases. Clin. Exp. Pharmacol. 2 (3), 1000e1108.
- Mostafalou, S., Abdollahi, M., 2012b. The role of environmental pollution of pesticides in human diabetes. Int. J. Pharmacol. 8 (2), 139-140.
- Mostafalou, S., Abdollahi, M., 2012c. Current concerns on genotoxicity of pesticides. Int. J. Pharmacol. 8 (6), 473-474.
- Mostafalou, S., Abdollahi, M., Eghbal, M.A., Saeedi Kouzehkonani, N., 2012a. Protective effect of NAC against malathion-induced oxidative stress in freshly isolated rat hepatocytes, Adv. Pharm. Bull. 2 (1), 79-88.
- Mostafalou, S., Eghbal, M.A., Nili-Ahmadabadi, A., Baeeri, M., Abdollahi, M., 2012b. Biochemical evidence on the potential role of organophosphates in hepatic glucose metabolism toward insulin resistance through inflammatory signaling and free radical pathways. Toxicol. Ind. Health 28 (9), 840-851.
- Mulder, Y.M., Drijver, M., Kreis, I.A., 1994. Case-control study on the association between a cluster of childhood haematopoietic malignancies and local environmental factors in Aalsmeer, The Netherlands. J. Epidemiol. Community Health 48 (2), 161-165.
- Multigner, L., Ndong, J.R., Giusti, A., Romana, M., Delacroix-Maillard, H., Cordier, S., Jegou, B., Thome, J.P., Blanchet, P., 2010. Chlordecone exposure and risk of prostate cancer. J. Clin. Oncol. 28 (21), 3457-3462.
- Musicco, M., Sant, M., Molinari, S., Filippini, G., Gatta, G., Berrino, F., 1988. A casecontrol study of brain gliomas and occupational exposure to chemical carcinogens: the risk to farmers. Am. J. Epidemiol. 128 (4), 778–785.
- Nassar, N., Abeywardana, P., Barker, A., Bower, C., 2010. Parental occupational exposure to potential endocrine disrupting chemicals and risk of hypospadias in infants. Occup. Environ. Med. 67 (9), 585–589. Nassif, M., Matus, S., Castillo, K., Hetz, C., 2010. Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis pathogenesis:
- a journey through the secretory pathway. Antioxid. Redox Signal. 13 (12), 1955–1989. Nathan, F.M., Singh, V.A., Dhanoa, A., Palanisamy, U.D., 2011. Oxidative stress and anti-
- oxidant status in primary bone and soft tissue sarcoma. BMC Cancer 11, 382. Ngo, A.D., Taylor, R., Roberts, C.L., Nguyen, T.V., 2006. Association between Agent
- Orange and birth defects: systematic review and meta-analysis. Int. J. Epidemiol. 35 (5), 1220-1230.
- Niso-Santano, M., Bravo-San Pedro, J.M., Gomez-Sanchez, R., Climent, V., Soler, G., Fuentes, J.M., Gonzalez-Polo, R.A., 2011. ASK1 overexpression accelerates paraquat-induced autophagy via endoplasmic reticulum stress. Toxicol. Sci. 119 (1), 156-168.
- Nordstrom, M., Hardell, L., Magnuson, A., Hagberg, H., Rask-Andersen, A., 1998. Occupational exposures, animal exposure and smoking as risk factors for hairy cell leukaemia evaluated in a case-control study. Br. J. Cancer 77 (11), 2048-2052.
- Oates, N., Pamphlett, R., 2007. An epigenetic analysis of SOD1 and VEGF in ALS. Amyotroph. Lateral Scler. 8 (2), 83–86.
- Olgun, S., Misra, H.P., 2006. Pesticides induced oxidative stress in thymocytes. Mol. Cell. Biochem. 290 (1-2), 137-144.

- Oliva, A., Spira, A., Multigner, L., 2001. Contribution of environmental factors to the risk of male infertility. Hum. Reprod. 16 (8), 1768–1776.
- Olshan, A.F., Breslow, N.E., Falletta, J.M., Grufferman, S., Pendergrass, T., Robison, L.L., Waskerwitz, M., Woods, W.G., Vietti, T.J., Hammond, G.D., 1993. Risk factors for Wilms tumor. Report from the National Wilms Tumor Study. Cancer 72 (3), 938–944.
- Orsi, L., Troussard, X., Monnereau, A., Berthou, C., Fenaux, P., Marit, G., Soubeyran, P., Huguet, F., Milpied, N., Leporrier, M., Hemon, D., Clavel, J., 2007. Occupation and lymphoid malignancies: results from a French case–control study. J. Occup. Environ. Med. 49 (12), 1339–1350.
- Ortega Jacome, G.P., Koifman, R.J., Rego Monteiro, G.T., Koifman, S., 2010. Environmental exposure and breast cancer among young women in Rio de Janeiro, Brazil. J. Toxicol. Environ. Health A 73 (13–14), 858–865.
- Orton, F., Rosivatz, E., Scholze, M., Kortenkamp, A., 2011. Widely used pesticides with previously unknown endocrine activity revealed as in vitro antiandrogens. Environ. Health Perspect. 119 (6), 794–800.
- Pamphlett, R., 2012. Exposure to environmental toxins and the risk of sporadic motor neuron disease: an expanded Australian case–control study. Eur. J. Neurol. 19 (10), 1343–1348.
- PAN, 2009. List of Lists: A Catalogue of Lists of Pesticides Identifying Those Associated with Particularly Harmful Health or Environmental Impacts. P. A. Network.
- Parks, C.G., Walitt, B.T., Pettinger, M., Chen, J.C., de Roos, A.J., Hunt, J., Sarto, G., Howard, B.V., 2011. Insecticide use and risk of rheumatoid arthritis and systemic lupus erythematosus in the Women's Health Initiative Observational Study. Arthritis Care Res. (Hoboken) 63 (2), 184–194.
- Parron, T., Requena, M., Hernandez, A.F., Alarcon, R., 2011. Association between environmental exposure to pesticides and neurodegenerative diseases. Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol. 256 (3), 379–385.
- Partanen, T., Kauppinen, T., Degerth, R., Moneta, G., Mearelli, I., Ojajarvi, A., Hernberg, S., Koskinen, H., Pukkala, E., 1994. Pancreatic cancer in industrial branches and occupations in Finland. Am. J. Ind. Med. 25 (6), 851–866.
- Pasquini, R., Scassellati-Sforzolini, G., Angeli, G., Fatigoni, C., Monarca, S., Beneventi, L., DiGiulio, A.M., Bauleo, F.A., 1996. Cytogenetic biomonitoring of pesticide-exposed farmers in central Italy. J. Environ. Pathol. Toxicol. Oncol. 15 (1), 29–39.
- Patel, C.J., Bhattacharya, J., Butte, A.J., 2010. An Environment-Wide Association Study (EWAS) on type 2 diabetes mellitus. PLoS One 5 (5), e10746.
- Paul, S., 2008. Dysfunction of the ubiquitin-proteasome system in multiple disease conditions: therapeutic approaches. Bioessays 30 (11–12), 1172–1184.
- Pearce, N.E., Smith, A.H., Fisher, D.O., 1985. Malignant lymphoma and multiple myeloma linked with agricultural occupations in a New Zealand Cancer Registry-based study. Am. J. Epidemiol. 121 (2), 225–237.Peiris-John, R.J., Wanigasuriya, J.K., Wickremasinghe, A.R., Dissanayake, W.P., Hittarage,
- Peiris-John, R.J., Wanigasuriya, J.K., Wickremasinghe, A.R., Dissanayake, W.P., Hittarage, A., 2006. Exposure to acetylcholinesterase-inhibiting pesticides and chronic renal failure. Ceylon Med. J. 51 (1), 42–43.
- Peluso, M., Merlo, F., Munnia, A., Bolognesi, C., Puntoni, R., Parodi, S., 1996. (32)Ppostlabeling detection of DNA adducts in peripheral white blood cells of greenhouse floriculturists from western Liguria, Italy. Cancer Epidemiol. Biomarkers Prev. 5 (5), 361–369.
- Penel, N., Vansteene, D., 2007. Cancers and pesticides: current data. Bull. Cancer 94 (1), 15–22.
- Perera, F.P., Rauh, V., Tsai, W.Y., Kinney, P., Camann, D., Barr, D., Bernert, T., Garfinkel, R., Tu, Y.H., Diaz, D., Dietrich, J., Whyatt, R.M., 2003. Effects of transplacental exposure to environmental pollutants on birth outcomes in a multiethnic population. Environ. Health Perspect. 111 (2), 201–205.
- Persson, B., Fredriksson, M., Olsen, K., Boeryd, B., Axelson, O., 1993. Some occupational exposures as risk factors for malignant lymphomas. Cancer 72 (5), 1773–1778.
- Pesatori, A.C., Sontag, J.M., Lubin, J.H., Consonni, D., Blair, A., 1994. Cohort mortality and nested case–control study of lung cancer among structural pest control workers in Florida (United States). Cancer Causes Control 5 (4), 310–318.
- Pesonen, M., Pasanen, M., Loikkanen, J., Naukkarinen, A., Hemmila, M., Seulanto, H., Kuitunen, T., Vahakangas, K., 2012. Chloropicrin induces endoplasmic reticulum stress in human retinal pigment epithelial cells. Toxicol. Lett. 211 (3), 239–245.
- Petit, C., Chevrier, C., Durand, G., Monfort, C., Rouget, F., Garlantezec, R., Cordier, S., 2010. Impact on fetal growth of prenatal exposure to pesticides due to agricultural activities: a prospective cohort study in Brittany, France. Environ. Health 9, 71.
- Petrovitch, H., Ross, G.W., Abbott, R.D., Sanderson, W.T., Sharp, D.S., Tanner, C.M., Masaki, K.H., Blanchette, P.L., Popper, J.S., Foley, D., Launer, L., White, L.R., 2002. Plantation work and risk of Parkinson disease in a population-based longitudinal study. Arch. Neurol. 59 (11), 1787–1792.
- Pogoda, J.M., Preston-Martin, S., 1997. Household pesticides and risk of pediatric brain tumors. Environ. Health Perspect. 105 (11), 1214–1220.
- Poovala, V.S., Kanji, V.K., Tachikawa, H., Salahudeen, A.K., 1998. Role of oxidant stress and antioxidant protection in acephate-induced renal tubular cytotoxicity. Toxicol. Sci. 46 (2), 403–409.
- Pournourmohammadi, S., Abdollahi, M., 2011. Toxicity and biomonitoring; gene expression. In: Satoh, T., Gupta, R. (Eds.), Anticholinesterase Pesticides: Metabolism, Neurotoxicity, and Epidemiology. Wiley, Hoboken NJ.
- Pournourmohammadi, S., Ostad, S.N., Azizi, E., Ghahremani, M.H., Farzami, B., Minaie, B., Larijani, B., Abdollahi, M., 2007. Induction of insulin resistance by malathion: evidence for disrupted islets cells metabolism and mitochondrial dysfunction. Pest. Biochem. Physiol. 88, 346–352.
- Priyadarshi, A., Khuder, S.A., Schaub, E.A., Shrivastava, S., 2000. A meta-analysis of Parkinson's disease and exposure to pesticides. Neurotoxicology 21 (4), 435–440.
- Priyadarshi, A., Khuder, S.A., Schaub, E.A., Priyadarshi, S.S., 2001. Environmental risk factors and Parkinson's disease: a metaanalysis. Environ. Res. 86 (2), 122–127. Provost, D., Cantagrel, A., Lebailly, P., Jaffre, A., Loyant, V., Loiseau, H., Vital, A., Brochard,
- Provost, D., Cantagrel, A., Lebailly, P., Jaffre, A., Loyant, V., Loiseau, H., Vital, A., Brochard, P., Baldi, I., 2007. Brain tumours and exposure to pesticides: a case–control study in southwestern France. Occup. Environ. Med. 64 (8), 509–514.

- Purdue, M.P., Hoppin, J.A., Blair, A., Dosemeci, M., Alavanja, M.C., 2007. Occupational exposure to organochlorine insecticides and cancer incidence in the Agricultural Health Study. Int. J. Cancer 120 (3), 642–649.
- Purisai, M.G., McCormack, A.L., Cumine, S., Li, J., Isla, M.Z., Di Monte, D.A., 2007. Microglial activation as a priming event leading to paraquat-induced dopaminergic cell degeneration. Neurobiol. Dis. 25 (2), 392–400.
- Qiao, D., Seidler, F.J., Slotkin, T.A., 2001. Developmental neurotoxicity of chlorpyrifos modeled in vitro: comparative effects of metabolites and other cholinesterase inhibitors on DNA synthesis in PC12 and C6 cells. Environ. Health Perspect. 109 (9), 909–913.
- Qureshi, M.M., Hayden, D., Urbinelli, L, Ferrante, K., Newhall, K., Myers, D., Hilgenberg, S., Smart, R., Brown, R.H., Cudkowicz, M.E., 2006. Analysis of factors that modify susceptibility and rate of progression in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS). Amyotroph. Lateral Scler. 7 (3), 173–182.
- Rahimi, R., Abdollahi, M., 2007. A review on the mechanisms involved in hyperglycemia induced by organophosphorous pesticides. Pest. Biochem. Physiol. 88, 115–121.
- Rakitsky, V.N., Koblyakov, V.A., Turusov, V.S., 2000. Nongenotoxic (epigenetic) carcinogens: pesticides as an example. A critical review. Teratog. Carcinog. Mutagen. 20 (4), 229–240.
- Ranjbar, A., Ghahremani, M.H., Sharifzadeh, M., Golestani, A., Ghazi-Khansari, M., Baeeri, M., Abdollahi, M., 2010. Protection by pentoxifylline of malathion-induced toxic stress and mitochondrial damage in rat brain. Hum. Exp. Toxicol. 29 (10), 851–864.
- Rau, A.T., Coutinho, A., Avabratha, K.S., Rau, A.R., Warrier, R.P., 2012. Pesticide (endosulfan) levels in the bone marrow of children with hematological malignancies. Indian Pediatr. 49 (2), 113–117.
- Rauch, S.A., Braun, J.M., Barr, D.B., Calafat, A.M., Khoury, J., Montesano, A.M., Yolton, K., Lanphear, B.P., 2012. Associations of prenatal exposure to organophosphate pesticide metabolites with gestational age and birth weight. Environ. Health Perspect. 120 (7), 1055–1060.
- Ren, A., Qiu, X., Jin, L., Ma, J., Li, Z., Zhang, L., Zhu, H., Finnell, R.H., Zhu, T., 2011. Association of selected persistent organic pollutants in the placenta with the risk of neural tube defects. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 108 (31), 12770–12775.
- Reynolds, P., Von Behren, J., Gunier, R.B., Goldberg, D.E., Harnly, M., Hertz, A., 2005. Agricultural pesticide use and childhood cancer in California. Epidemiology 16 (1), 93–100.
- Richard, S., Moslemi, S., Sipahutar, H., Benachour, N., Seralini, G.E., 2005. Differential effects of glyphosate and roundup on human placental cells and aromatase. Environ. Health Perspect. 113 (6), 716–720.
- Richardson, J.R., Caudle, W.M., Wang, M., Dean, E.D., Pennell, K.D., Miller, G.W., 2006. Developmental exposure to the pesticide dieldrin alters the dopamine system and increases neurotoxicity in an animal model of Parkinson's disease. FASEB J. 20 (10), 1695–1697.
- Richardson, J.R., Shalat, S.L., Buckley, B., Winnik, B., O'Suilleabhain, P., Diaz-Arrastia, R., Reisch, J., German, D.C., 2009. Elevated serum pesticide levels and risk of Parkinson disease. Arch. Neurol. 66 (7), 870–875.
- Ritter, L., Wigle, D.T., Semenciw, R.M., Wilkins, K., Riedel, D., Mao, Y., 1990. Mortality study of Canadian male farm operators: cancer mortality and agricultural practices in Saskatchewan. Med. Lav. 81 (6), 499–505.
- Ritz, B., Yu, F., 2000. Parkinson's disease mortality and pesticide exposure in California 1984–1994. Int. J. Epidemiol. 29 (2), 323–329.
- Ritz, B.R., Manthripragada, A.D., Costello, S., Lincoln, S.J., Farrer, M.J., Cockburn, M., Bronstein, J., 2009. Dopamine transporter genetic variants and pesticides in Parkinson's disease. Environ. Health Perspect. 117 (6), 964–969.
- Rocheleau, C.M., Romitti, P.A., Dennis, L.K., 2009. Pesticides and hypospadias: a metaanalysis. J. Pediatr. Urol. 5 (1), 17–24.
- Rodvall, Y., Ahlbom, A., Spannare, B., Nise, G., 1996. Glioma and occupational exposure in Sweden, a case–control study. Occup. Environ. Med. 53 (8), 526–532.
- Rogers, J.M., Kavlock, R.J., 2008. Developmental toxicology. In: Klaassen, C.D. (Ed.), Casarett & Doull's Toxicology. McGraw-Hill, New York.
- Rosso, A.L., Hovinga, M.E., Rorke-Adams, L.B., Spector, L.G., Bunin, G.R., 2008. A casecontrol study of childhood brain tumors and fathers' hobbies: a Children's Oncology Group study. Cancer Causes Control 19 (10), 1201–1207.
- Roth, F., 1958. Uber den Bronchialkrebs Arsengeschadigter Winzer. Virchows Arch. 331 (119–137).
- Rudant, J., Ménegaux, F., Leverger, G., Baruchel, A., Nelken, B., Bertrand, Y., Patte, C., Pacquement, H., Verite, C., Robert, A., Michel, G., Margueritte, G., Gandemer, V., Hemon, D., Clavel, J., 2007. Household exposure to pesticides and risk of childhood hematopoietic malignancies: the ESCALE study (SFCE). Environ. Health Perspect. 115 (12), 1787–1793.
- Ruder, A.M., Waters, M.A., Carreon, T., Butler, M.A., Davis-King, K.E., Calvert, G.M., Schulte, P.A., Ward, E.M., Connally, L.B., Lu, J., Wall, D., Zivkovich, Z., Heineman, E.F., Mandel, J.S., Morton, R.F., Reding, D.J., Rosenman, K.D., 2006. The Upper Midwest Health Study: a case-control study of primary intracranial gliomas in farm and rural residents. J. Agric. Saf. Health 12 (4), 255–274.
- Rull, R.P., Gunier, R., Von Behren, J., Hertz, A., Crouse, V., Buffler, P.A., Reynolds, P., 2009. Residential proximity to agricultural pesticide applications and childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia. Environ. Res. 109 (7), 891–899.
- Rupa, D.S., Rita, P., Reddy, P.P., Reddi, O.S., 1988. Screening of chromosomal aberrations and sister chromatid exchanges in peripheral lymphocytes of vegetable garden workers. Hum. Toxicol. 7 (4), 333–336.
- Rupa, D.S., Reddy, P.P., Sreemannarayana, K., Reddi, O.S., 1991. Frequency of sister chromatid exchange in peripheral lymphocytes of male pesticide applicators. Environ. Mol. Mutagen. 18 (2), 136–138.Rusiecki, J.A., Hou, L., Lee, W.J., Blair, A., Dosemeci, M., Lubin, J.H., Bonner, M., Samanic, C.,
- Rusiecki, J.A., Hou, L., Lee, W.J., Blair, A., Dosemeci, M., Lubin, J.H., Bonner, M., Samanic, C., Hoppin, J.A., Sandler, D.P., Alavanja, M.C., 2006. Cancer incidence among pesticide

applicators exposed to metolachlor in the Agricultural Health Study. Int. J. Cancer 118 (12). 3118-3123.

- Rusiecki, J.A., Baccarelli, A., Bollati, V., Tarantini, L., Moore, L.E., Bonefeld-Jorgensen, E.C., 2008. Global DNA hypomethylation is associated with high serum-persistent organic pollutants in Greenlandic Inuit. Environ. Health Perspect. 116 (11), 1547-1552.
- Rusiecki, J.A., Patel, R., Koutros, S., Beane-Freeman, L., Landgren, O., Bonner, M.R., Coble, J., Lubin, J., Blair, A., Hoppin, J.A., Alavanja, M.C., 2009. Cancer incidence among pesticide applicators exposed to permethrin in the Agricultural Health Study. Environ. Health Perspect. 117 (4), 581-586.
- Saiyed, H., Dewan, A., Bhatnagar, V., Shenoy, U., Shenoy, R., Rajmohan, H., Patel, K., Kashyap, R., Kulkarni, P., Rajan, B., Lakkad, B., 2003. Effect of endosulfan on male reproductive development. Environ. Health Perspect. 111 (16), 1958-1962.
- Salam, M.T., Li, Y.F., Langholz, B., Gilliland, F.D., 2004. Early-life environmental risk factors for asthma: findings from the Children's Health Study. Environ. Health Perspect. 112 (6), 760-765.
- Salameh, P.R., Baldi, I., Brochard, P., Raherison, C., Abi Saleh, B., Salamon, R., 2003. Respiratory symptoms in children and exposure to pesticides. Eur. Respir. J. 22 (3), 507-512.
- Saldana, T.M., Basso, O., Hoppin, J.A., Baird, D.D., Knott, C., Blair, A., Alavanja, M.C., Sandler, D.P., 2007. Pesticide exposure and self-reported gestational diabetes
- mellitus in the Agricultural Health Study. Diabetes Care 30 (3), 529–534. Samanic, C., Rusiecki, J., Dosemeci, M., Hou, L., Hoppin, J.A., Sandler, D.P., Lubin, J., Blair, A., Alavanja, M.C., 2006. Cancer incidence among pesticide applicators exposed to dicamba in the agricultural health study. Environ. Health Perspect. 114 (10), 1521-1526.
- Samanic, C.M., De Roos, A.J., Stewart, P.A., Rajaraman, P., Waters, M.A., Inskip, P.D., 2008. Occupational exposure to pesticides and risk of adult brain tumors. Am. J. Epidemiol. 167 (8), 976-985.
- Scheuner, D., Kaufman, R.J., 2008. The unfolded protein response: a pathway that links insulin demand with beta-cell failure and diabetes. Endocr. Rev. 29 (3), 317-333.
- Schreinemachers, D.M., 2003. Birth malformations and other adverse perinatal outcomes in four U.S. Wheat-producing states. Environ. Health Perspect. 111 (9), 1259-1264.
- Schroeder, J.C., Olshan, A.F., Baric, R., Dent, G.A., Weinberg, C.R., Yount, B., Cerhan, J.R., Lynch, C.F., Schuman, L.M., Tolbert, P.E., Rothman, N., Cantor, K.P., Blair, A., 2001. Agricultural risk factors for t(14;18) subtypes of non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. Epidemiology 12 (6), 701-709.
- Schulte, P.A., Burnett, C.A., Boeniger, M.F., Johnson, J., 1996. Neurodegenerative diseases: occupational occurrence and potential risk factors, 1982 through 1991. Am. J. Public Health 86 (9), 1281-1288.
- Searles Nielsen, S., McKean-Cowdin, R., Farin, F.M., Holly, E.A., Preston-Martin, S., Mueller, B.A., 2010. Childhood brain tumors, residential insecticide exposure, and pesticide metabolism genes. Environ. Health Perspect. 118 (1), 144–149.
- Seidler, A., Hellenbrand, W., Robra, B.P., Vieregge, P., Nischan, P., Joerg, J., Oertel, W.H., Ulm, G., Schneider, E., 1996. Possible environmental, occupational, and other etiologic factors for Parkinson's disease: a case-control study in Germany. Neurology 46 (5), 1275-1284.
- Semchuk, K.M., Love, E.J., Lee, R.G., 1992. Parkinson's disease and exposure to agricultural work and pesticide chemicals. Neurology 42 (7), 1328-1335.
- Settimi, L., Masina, A., Andrion, A., Axelson, O., 2003. Prostate cancer and exposure to pesticides in agricultural settings. Int. J. Cancer 104 (4), 458-461.
- Shadnia, S., Azizi, E., Hosseini, R., Khoie, S., Fouladdel, S., Pajoumand, A., Jalali, N., Abdollahi, M., 2005. Evaluation of oxidative stress and genotoxicity in organophosphorous insecticides formulators. Hum. Exp. Toxicol. 24, 439-445
- Shah, M.D., Iqbal, M., 2010. Diazinon-induced oxidative stress and renal dysfunction in rats. Food Chem. Toxicol. 48 (12), 3345-3353.
- Sharma, H., Zhang, P., Barber, D.S., Liu, B., 2010. Organochlorine pesticides dieldrin and lindane induce cooperative toxicity in dopaminergic neurons: role of oxidative stress. Neurotoxicology 31 (2), 215-222.
- Sharma-Wagner, S., Chokkalingam, A.P., Malker, H.S., Stone, B.J., McLaughlin, J.K., Hsing, A.W., 2000. Occupation and prostate cancer risk in Sweden. J. Occup. Environ. Med. 42 (5), 517-525.
- Sharpe, C.R., Franco, E.L., de Camargo, B., Lopes, L.F., Barreto, J.H., Johnsson, R.R., Mauad, M.A., 1995. Parental exposures to pesticides and risk of Wilms' tumor in Brazil. Am. J. Epidemiol. 141 (3), 210–217.
- Sherman, J.D., 1996. Chlorpyrifos (Dursban)-associated birth defects: report of four
- cases. Arch. Environ. Health 51 (1), 5–8. Shintani, T., Klionsky, D.J., 2004. Autophagy in health and disease: a double-edged sword. Science 306 (5698), 990–995.
- Shojaei Saadi, H., Abdollahi, M., 2012. Is there a link between human infertilities and exposure to pesticides? Int. J. Pharmacol. 8 (8), 708-710.
- Shu, X.O., Gao, Y.T., Brinton, L.A., Linet, M.S., Tu, J.T., Zheng, W., Fraumeni Jr., J.F., 1988. A population-based case-control study of childhood leukemia in Shanghai. Cancer 62 (3), 635-644.
- Siddharth, M., Datta, S.K., Bansal, S., Mustafa, M., Banerjee, B.D., Kalra, O.P., Tripathi, A.K., 2012. Study on organochlorine pesticide levels in chronic kidney disease patients: association with estimated glomerular filtration rate and oxidative stress. J. Biochem. Mol. Toxicol. 26 (6), 241-247.
- Simmons, R.A., 2007. Developmental origins of diabetes: the role of epigenetic mechanisms. Curr. Opin. Endocrinol. Diabetes Obes. 14 (1), 13–16.
- Singh, C., Ahmad, I., Kumar, A., 2007. Pesticides and metals induced Parkinson's disease: involvement of free radicals and oxidative stress. Cell. Mol. Biol. (Noisyle-Grand) 53 (5), 19-28.
- Skandrani, D., Gaubin, Y., Beau, B., Murat, J.C., Vincent, C., Croute, F., 2006a. Effect of selected insecticides on growth rate and stress protein expression in cultured human A549 and SH-SY5Y cells. Toxicol. In Vitro 20 (8), 1378–1386.
- Skandrani, D., Gaubin, Y., Vincent, C., Beau, B., Claude Murat, J., Soleilhavoup, J.P., Croute, F., 2006b. Relationship between toxicity of selected insecticides and expression of

stress proteins (HSP, GRP) in cultured human cells: effects of commercial formulations versus pure active molecules. Biochim, Biophys, Acta 1760 (1), 95-103. Skinner, M.K., Anway, M.D., 2007. Epigenetic transgenerational actions of vinclozolin

- on the development of disease and cancer. Crit. Rev. Oncog. 13 (1), 75-82. Slager, R.E., Poole, J.A., LeVan, T.D., Sandler, D.P., Alavanja, M.C., Hoppin, J.A., 2009. Rhi-
- nitis associated with pesticide exposure among commercial pesticide applicators in the Agricultural Health Study. Occup. Environ. Med. 66 (11), 718–724. Slaninova, A., Smutna, M., Modra, H., Svobodova, Z., 2009. A review: oxidative stress in
- fish induced by pesticides. Neuro Endocrinol. Lett. 30 (Suppl. 1), 2-12.
- Smith-Rooker, J.L., Garrett, A., Hodges, L.C., Shue, V., 1992. Prevalence of glioblastoma multiforme subjects with prior herbicide exposure. J. Neurosci. Nurs. 24 (5), 260-264.
- Snijder, C.A., Brouwers, M.M., Jaddoe, V.W., Hofman, A., Roeleveld, N., Burdorf, A., 2011. Occupational exposure to endocrine disruptors and time to pregnancy among couples in a large birth cohort study: the Generation R Study. Fertil. Steril. 95 (6), 2067-2072.
- Soldin, O.P., Nsouli-Maktabi, H., Genkinger, J.M., Loffredo, C.A., Ortega-Garcia, J.A., Colantino, D., Barr, D.B., Luban, N.L., Shad, A.T., Nelson, D., 2009. Pediatric acute lymphoblastic leukemia and exposure to pesticides. Ther. Drug Monit. 31 (4), 495-501.
- Soltaninejad, K., Abdollahi, M., 2009. Current opinion on the science of organophosphate pesticides and toxic stress: a systematic review. Med. Sci. Monit. 15 (3), RA75-90.
- Song, C., Kanthasamy, A., Anantharam, V., Sun, F., Kanthasamy, A.G., 2010. Environmental neurotoxic pesticide increases histone acetylation to promote apoptosis in dopaminergic neuronal cells: relevance to epigenetic mechanisms of neurodegeneration. Mol. Pharmacol. 77 (4), 621-632.
- Spinelli, J.J., Ng, C.H., Weber, J.P., Connors, J.M., Gascoyne, R.D., Lai, A.S., Brooks-Wilson, A.R., Le, N.D., Berry, B.R., Gallagher, R.P., 2007. Organochlorines and risk of non-Hodgkin lymphoma. Int. J. Cancer 121 (12), 2767-2775.
- Stanko, J.P., Enoch, R.R., Rayner, J.L., Davis, C.C., Wolf, D.C., Malarkey, D.E., Fenton, S.E., 2010. Effects of prenatal exposure to a low dose atrazine metabolite mixture on pubertal timing and prostate development of male Long-Evans rats. Reprod. Toxicol. 30 (4), 540-549.
- Stephenson, J., 2000. Exposure to home pesticides linked to Parkinson disease. JAMA 283 (23), 3055–3056.
- Sun, F., Anantharam, V., Latchoumycandane, C., Kanthasamy, A., Kanthasamy, A.G., 2005. Dieldrin induces ubiquitin-proteasome dysfunction in alpha-synuclein overexpressing dopaminergic neuronal cells and enhances susceptibility to apoptotic cell death. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 315 (1), 69-79.
- Sutedja, N.A., Veldink, J.H., Fischer, K., Kromhout, H., Heederik, D., Huisman, M.H., Wokke, J.H., van den Berg, L.H., 2009. Exposure to chemicals and metals and risk of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: a systematic review. Amyotroph. Lateral Scler. 10 (5-6), 302-309
- Swan, S.H., Brazil, C., Drobnis, E.Z., Liu, F., Kruse, R.L., Hatch, M., Redmon, J.B., Wang, C., Overstreet, J.W., 2003a. Geographic differences in semen quality of fertile U.S. males. Environ. Health Perspect. 111 (4), 414-420.
- Swan, S.H., Kruse, R.L., Liu, F., Barr, D.B., Drobnis, E.Z., Redmon, J.B., Wang, C., Brazil, C., Overstreet, J.W., 2003b. Semen quality in relation to biomarkers of pesticide exposure. Environ. Health Perspect. 111 (12), 1478-1484.
- t Mannetje, A., Dryson, E., Walls, C., McLean, D., McKenzie, F., Maule, M., Cheng, S., Cunningham, C., Kromhout, H., Boffetta, P., Blair, A., Pearce, N., 2008. High risk occupations for non-Hodgkin's lymphoma in New Zealand: case-control study. Occup. Environ. Med. 65 (5), 354-363.
- Tabas, I., 2010. The role of endoplasmic reticulum stress in the progression of atherosclerosis. Circ. Res. 107 (7), 839-850.
- Janner, C.M., Ross, G.W., Jewell, S.A., Hauser, R.A., Jankovic, J., Factor, S.A., Bressman, S., Deligtisch, A., Marras, C., Lyons, K.E., Bhudhikanok, G.S., Roucoux, D.F., Meng, C., Abbott, R.D., Langston, J.W., 2009. Occupation and risk of parkinsonism: a multi-
- center case-control study. Arch. Neurol. 66 (9), 1106–1113. Tanner, C.M., Kamel, F., Ross, G.W., Hoppin, J.A., Goldman, S.M., Korell, M., Marras, C., Bhudhikanok, G.S., Kasten, M., Chade, A.R., Comyns, K., Richards, M.B., Meng, C., Priestley, B., Fernandez, H.H., Cambi, F., Umbach, D.M., Blair, A., Sandler, D.P., Langston, J.W., 2011. Rotenone, paraquat, and Parkinson's disease. Environ. Health Perspect. 119 (6), 866-872.
- Tao, L., Yang, S., Xie, M., Kramer, P.M., Pereira, M.A., 2000a. Effect of trichloroethylene and its metabolites, dichloroacetic acid and trichloroacetic acid, on the methylation and expression of c-Iun and c-Mvc protooncogenes in mouse liver: prevention by methionine. Toxicol. Sci. 54 (2), 399-407.
- Tao, L., Yang, S., Xie, M., Kramer, P.M., Pereira, M.A., 2000b. Hypomethylation and overexpression of c-jun and c-myc protooncogenes and increased DNA methyltransferase activity in dichloroacetic and trichloroacetic acid-promoted mouse liver tumors. Cancer Lett. 158 (2), 185-193.
- Tarvainen, L., Kyyronen, P., Kauppinen, T., Pukkala, E., 2008. Cancer of the mouth and pharynx, occupation and exposure to chemical agents in Finland [in 1971-95]. Înt. J. Cancer 123 (3), 653–659.
- Teimouri, F., Amirkabirian, N., Esmaily, H., Mohammadirad, A., Aliahmadi, A., Abdollahi, M., 2006. Alteration of hepatic cells glucose metabolism as a non-cholinergic detoxication mechanism in counteracting diazinon-induced oxidative stress. Hum. Exp. Toxicol. 25 (12), 697-703.
- Teitelbaum, S.L., Gammon, M.D., Britton, J.A., Neugut, A.I., Levin, B., Stellman, S.D., 2007. Reported residential pesticide use and breast cancer risk on Long Island, New York. Am. J. Epidemiol. 165 (6), 643-651.
- Thayer, K.A., Heindel, J.J., Bucher, J.R., Gallo, M.A., 2012. Role of environmental chemicals in diabetes and obesity: a national toxicology program workshop report. Environ. Health Perspect. 120 (6), 779–789.
- Thiers, H., Colomb, D., Moulin, G., Colin, L., 1967. Arsenical skin cancer in vineyards in the Beaulolais (Fr.). Ann. Dermatol. 94, 133-158.

176

- Tiemann, U., 2008. In vivo and in vitro effects of the organochlorine pesticides DDT, TCPM, methoxychlor, and lindane on the female reproductive tract of mammals: a review. Reprod. Toxicol. 25 (3), 316-326.
- Tiido, T., Rignell-Hydbom, A., Jonsson, B., Giwercman, Y.L., Rylander, L., Hagmar, L., Giwercman, A., 2005. Exposure to persistent organochlorine pollutants associates with human sperm Y:X chromosome ratio. Hum. Reprod. 20 (7), 1903-1909.
- Tiido, T., Rignell-Hydbom, A., Jonsson, B.A., Giwercman, Y.L., Pedersen, H.S., Wojtyniak, B., Ludwicki, J.K., Lesovoy, V., Zvyezday, V., Spano, M., Manicardi, G.C., Bizzaro, D., Bonefeld-Jorgensen, E.C., Toft, G., Bonde, J.P., Rylander, L., Hagmar, L., Giwercman, A., 2006. Impact of PCB and p, p'-DDE contaminants on human sperm Y:X chromosome ratio: studies in three European populations and the Inuit population in Greenland. Environ. Health Perspect. 114 (5), 718-724.
- Tisch, M., Schmezer, P., Faulde, M., Groh, A., Maier, H., 2002. Genotoxicity studies on permethrin, DEET and diazinon in primary human nasal mucosal cells. Eur. Arch. Otorhinolaryngol. 259 (3), 150-153.
- Tomita, M., Okuyama, T., Katsuyama, H., Ishikawa, T., 2006. Paraquat-induced gene expression in rat kidney. Arch. Toxicol. 80 (10), 687-693.
- Tsai, J., Kaye, W.E., Bove, F.J., 2006. Wilms' tumor and exposures to residential and occupational hazardous chemicals. Int. J. Hyg. Environ. Health 209 (1), 57-64.
- Tuchsen, F., Jensen, A.A., 2000. Agricultural work and the risk of Parkinson's disease in Denmark, 1981–1993. Scand. J. Work Environ. Health 26 (4), 359–362. Turner, M.C., Wigle, D.T., Krewski, D., 2010. Residential pesticides and childhood leukemia:
- a systematic review and meta-analysis. Environ. Health Perspect. 118 (1), 33-41.
- Tyas, S.L., Manfreda, J., Strain, L.A., Montgomery, P.R., 2001. Risk factors for Alzheimer's disease: a population-based, longitudinal study in Manitoba, Canada. Int. J. Epidemiol. 30 (3), 590-597
- Ubaidullaeva, K.M., 2006. The clinical and functional features of chronic obstructive lung disease in patients with organic chlorine pesticides in blood. Probl. Tuberk. Bolezn. Legk. (9), 21-23.
- Vajdic, C.M., Fritschi, L., Grulich, A.E., Kaldor, J.M., Benke, G., Kricker, A., Hughes, A.M., Turner, J.J., Milliken, S., Goumas, C., Armstrong, B.K., 2007. Atopy, exposure to pesticides and risk of non-Hodgkin lymphoma. Int. J. Cancer 120 (10), 2271-2274.
- Valcin, M., Henneberger, P.K., Kullman, G.J., Umbach, D.M., London, S.J., Alavanja, M.C., Sandler, D.P., Hoppin, J.A., 2007. Chronic bronchitis among nonsmoking farm women in the agricultural health study. J. Occup. Environ. Med. 49 (5), 574-583.
- van Balen, E., Font, R., Cavalle, N., Font, L., Garcia-Villanueva, M., Benavente, Y., Brennan, P., de Sanjose, S., 2006. Exposure to non-arsenic pesticides is associated with lymphoma among farmers in Spain. Occup. Environ. Med. 63 (10), 663-668.
- van Bemmel, D.M., Visvanathan, K., Beane Freeman, L.E., Coble, J., Hoppin, J.A., Alavanja, M.C., 2008. S-ethyl-N, N-dipropylthiocarbamate exposure and cancer incidence among male pesticide applicators in the agricultural health study: a prospective cohort. Environ. Health Perspect. 116 (11), 1541-1546.
- van der Mark, M., Brouwer, M., Kromhout, H., Nijssen, P., Huss, A., Vermeulen, R., 2012. Is pesticide use related to Parkinson disease? Some clues to heterogeneity in study results. Environ. Health Perspect. 120 (3), 340–347. van Gelder, M.M., van Rooij, I.A., Miller, R.K., Zielhuis, G.A., de Jong-van den Berg, L.T.,
- Roeleveld, N., 2010. Teratogenic mechanisms of medical drugs. Hum. Reprod. Update 16 (4), 378-394.
- Van Leeuwen, J.A., Waltner-Toews, D., Abernathy, T., Smit, B., Shoukri, M., 1999. Associations between stomach cancer incidence and drinking water contamination with atrazine and nitrate in Ontario (Canada) agroecosystems, 1987–1991. Int. J. Epidemiol. 28 (5), 836-840.
- Van Maele-Fabry, G., Libotte, V., Willems, J., Lison, D., 2006. Review and meta-analysis of risk estimates for prostate cancer in pesticide manufacturing workers. Cancer Causes Control 17 (4), 353-373.
- Van Maele-Fabry, G., Duhayon, S., Lison, D., 2007. A systematic review of myeloid leukemias and occupational pesticide exposure. Cancer Causes Control 18 (5), 457-478. Van Maele-Fabry, G., Duhayon, S., Mertens, C., Lison, D., 2008. Risk of leukaemia among
- pesticide manufacturing workers: a review and meta-analysis of cohort studies. Environ. Res. 106 (1), 121-137.
- Van Maele-Fabry, G., Hoet, P., Vilain, F., Lison, D., 2012. Occupational exposure to pesticides and Parkinson's disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis of cohort studies. Environ. Int. 46, 30-43.
- van Wijngaarden, E., Stewart, P.A., Olshan, A.F., Savitz, D.A., Bunin, G.R., 2003. Parental occupational exposure to pesticides and childhood brain cancer. Am. J. Epidemiol. 157 (11), 989-997.
- Vandenplas, O., Delwiche, J.P., Auverdin, J., Caroyer, U.M., Cangh, F.B., 2000. Asthma to tetramethrin. Allergy 55 (4), 417-418.
- Viel, J.F., Challier, B., Pitard, A., Pobel, D., 1998. Brain cancer mortality among French farmers: the vineyard pesticide hypothesis. Arch. Environ. Health 53 (1), 65-70.
- Vinceti, M., Bottecchi, I., Fan, A., Finkelstein, Y., Mandrioli, J., 2012. Are environmental exposures to selenium, heavy metals, and pesticides risk factors for amyotrophic lateral sclerosis? Rev. Environ. Health 27 (1), 19-41.
- Wagner, S.L., 2000. Fatal asthma in a child after use of an animal shampoo containing pyrethrin. West. J. Med. 173 (2), 86-87.
- Walker, K.M., Carozza, S., Cooper, S., Elgethun, K., 2007. Childhood cancer in Texas counties with moderate to intense agricultural activity. J. Agric. Saf. Health 13 (1), 9–24. Wang, X.F., Li, S., Chou, A.P., Bronstein, J.M., 2006. Inhibitory effects of pesticides on
- proteasome activity: implication in Parkinson's disease. Neurobiol. Dis. 23 (1), 198-205.

Wang, A., Costello, S., Cockburn, M., Zhang, X., Bronstein, J., Ritz, B., 2011a. Parkinson's

- disease risk from ambient exposure to pesticides. Eur. J. Epidemiol. 26 (7), 547–555. Wang, H., Wang, S.F., Ning, H., Ji, Y.L., Zhang, C., Zhang, Y., Yu, T., Ma, X.H., Zhao, X.F., Wang, Q., Liu, P., Meng, X.H., Xu, D.X., 2011b. Maternal cypermethrin exposure during lactation impairs testicular development and spermatogenesis in male mouse offspring. Environ. Toxicol. 26 (4), 382–394. Wanigasuriya, K.P., Peiris-John, R.J., Wickremasinghe, R., Hittarage, A., 2007. Chronic
- renal failure in North Central Province of Sri Lanka: an environmentally induced disease. Trans. R. Soc. Trop. Med. Hyg. 101 (10), 1013-1017.
- Ward, M.H., Kilfoy, B.A., Weyer, P.J., Anderson, K.E., Folsom, A.R., Cerhan, J.R., 2010. Nitrate intake and the risk of thyroid cancer and thyroid disease. Epidemiology 21 (3), 389–395.
- Weichenthal, S., Moase, C., Chan, P., 2010. A review of pesticide exposure and cancer incidence in the Agricultural Health Study cohort, Environ, Health Perspect, 118 (8), 1117-1125.
- Weiner, B.P., Worth, R.M., 1969. Insecticides: household use and respiratory impairment. Hawaii Med. J. 28 (4), 283-285.
- Weinhold, B., 2006. Epigenetics: the science of change. Environ. Health Perspect. 114 (3), A160-A167.
- Weselak, M., Arbuckle, T.E., Foster, W., 2007. Pesticide exposures and developmental outcomes: the epidemiological evidence. J. Toxicol. Environ. Health B Crit. Rev. 10 (1-2), 41-80.
- Wesseling, C., Antich, D., Hogstedt, C., Rodriguez, A.C., Ahlbom, A., 1999. Geographical differences of cancer incidence in Costa Rica in relation to environmental and occupational pesticide exposure. Int. J. Epidemiol. 28 (3), 365-374.
- Wiklund, K., 1983. Swedish agricultural workers. A group with a decreased risk of cancer. Cancer 51 (3), 566-568.
- Wilkins III, J.R., Koutras, R.A., 1988. Paternal occupation and brain cancer in offspring: a mortality-based case-control study. Am. J. Ind. Med. 14 (3), 299-318.
- Wilkins III, J.R., Sinks, T., 1990. Parental occupation and intracranial neoplasms of childhood: results of a case-control interview study. Am. J. Epidemiol. 132 (2), 275-292
- Winchester, P.D., Huskins, J., Ying, J., 2009. Agrichemicals in surface water and birth defects in the United States. Acta Paediatr. 98 (4), 664–669. Woods, J.S., Polissar, L., Severson, R.K., Heuser, L.S., Kulander, B.G., 1987. Soft tissue sar-
- coma and non-Hodgkin's lymphoma in relation to phenoxyherbicide and chlorinated phenol exposure in western Washington. J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 78 (5), 899-910.
- Xu, C., Bailly-Maitre, B., Reed, J.C., 2005. Endoplasmic reticulum stress: cell life and death decisions. J. Clin. Invest. 115 (10), 2656-2664.
- Yang, W., Tiffany-Castiglioni, E., 2007. The bipyridyl herbicide paraquat induces proteasome dysfunction in human neuroblastoma SH-SY5Y cells. J. Toxicol. Environ. Health A 70 (21), 1849-1857.
- Yang, W., Chen, L., Ding, Y., Zhuang, X., Kang, U.J., 2007. Paraquat induces dopaminergic dysfunction and proteasome impairment in DJ-1-deficient mice. Hum. Mol. Genet. 16 (23), 2900-2910.
- Yang, W., Tiffany-Castiglioni, E., Koh, H.C., Son, I.H., 2009. Paraquat activates the IRE1/ ASK1/JNK cascade associated with apoptosis in human neuroblastoma SH-SY5Y cells. Toxicol. Lett. 191 (2-3), 203-210.
- Zahm, S.H., Weisenburger, D.D., Babbitt, P.A., Saal, R.C., Vaught, J.B., Cantor, K.P., Blair, A., 1990. A case-control study of non-Hodgkin's lymphoma and the herbicide 2,4-dichlorophenoxyacetic acid (2,4-D) in eastern Nebraska. Epidemiology 1 (5), 349-356
- Zahm, S.H., Weisenburger, D.D., Saal, R.C., Vaught, J.B., Babbitt, P.A., Blair, A., 1993. The role of agricultural pesticide use in the development of non-Hodgkin's lymphoma in women. Arch. Environ. Health 48 (5), 353-358.
- Zama, A.M., Uzumcu, M., 2009. Fetal and neonatal exposure to the endocrine disruptor methoxychlor causes epigenetic alterations in adult ovarian genes. Endocrinology 150 (10), 4681-4691.
- Zamzila, A.N., Aminu, I., Niza, S., Razman, M.R., Hadi, M.A., 2011. Chronic Organophosphate Pesticide Exposure and Coronary Artery Disease: Finding a Bridge. IIUM Research, Invention and Innovation Exhibition (IRIIE).
- Zeljezic, D., Garaj-Vrhovac, V., 2001. Chromosomal aberration and single cell gel electrophoresis (Comet) assay in the longitudinal risk assessment of occupational exposure to pesticides. Mutagenesis 16 (4), 359-363.
- Zeljezic, D., Garaj-Vrhovac, V., 2002. Sister chromatid exchange and proliferative rate index in the longitudinal risk assessment of occupational exposure to pesticides. Chemosphere 46 (2), 295-303.
- Zheng, T., Cantor, K.P., Zhang, Y., Keim, S., Lynch, C.F., 2001. Occupational risk factors for brain cancer: a population-based case-control study in Iowa. J. Occup. Environ. Med. 43 (4), 317-324.
- Zhong, Y., Rafnsson, V., 1996. Cancer incidence among Icelandic pesticide users. Int. J. Epidemiol. 25 (6), 1117-1124.
- Ziech, D., Franco, R., Pappa, A., Malamou-Mitsi, V., Georgakila, S., Georgakilas, A.G., Panayiotidis, M.I., 2010. The role of epigenetics in environmental and occupational carcinogenesis. Chem. Biol. Interact. 188 (2), 340-349.
- Zorzon, M., Capus, L., Pellegrino, A., Cazzato, G., Zivadinov, R., 2002. Familial and environmental risk factors in Parkinson's disease: a case-control study in north-east Italy. Acta Neurol. Scand. 105 (2), 77-82.
- Zucchini-Pascal, N., de Sousa, G., Rahmani, R., 2009. Lindane and cell death: at the crossroads between apoptosis, necrosis and autophagy. Toxicology 256 (1-2), 32-41.